

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

Employee Retention Strategy in the Hospitality Industry

Hauwa Dogonyaro Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Hauwa Dogonyaro

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Erica Gamble, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Christopher Beehner, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

Employee Retention Strategies in the Hospitality Industry

by

Hauwa Dogonyaro

MCM, Buckinghamshire New University, UK, 2015 HND, Kaduna Polytechnic, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2021

Abstract

Ineffective retention strategies can negatively impact employee productivity, which may hinder business profitability and sustainability. Hotel managers who struggle to improve employee retention are at high risk of not sustaining their business. Grounded in Herzberg's two-factor theory, the purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. The participants were three hotel managers from a hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, who used strategies to improve employee retention. Sources for data collection were semistructured interviews, company documents, observations, and field notes. Data analysis involved the use of thematic analysis. Four themes emerged: work conditions and employee welfare, remuneration and compensation, training and career development, and reward and recognition. A key recommendation was for hotel managers to implement effective training and development strategies to improve employee retention. The implications for positive social change include the potential for hotel managers to create job opportunities, provide social amenities and welfare, and support the economic development of the regional communities.

Employee Retention Strategies in the Hospitality Industry

by

Hauwa Dogonyaro

MCM, Buckinghamshire New University, UK, 2015 HND, Kaduna Polytechnic, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

June 2021

APA 7th Edition

Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to God Almighty for keeping me alive, providing for me, and giving me all the strength and wisdom to pass through this difficult and challenging journey of my doctoral study. I return all the Glory to God Almighty. This study is also dedicated to my husband, Rear Admiral Danjuma Dogonyaro and my daughters, Samira Dogonyaro and Ella Dogonyaro, for inspiring me to achieve my dream.

Acknowledgments

I want to take this opportunity to thank my siblings for their relentless support throughout the duration of this journey. I would also like to thank my mentor and chair, Dr. Greg Uche for his support, guidance, and patience. I would also like to thank my second committee member, Dr. Gamble; the university research reviewer, Dr. Chris Beehner; and all the faculty members. I would also like to thank Prince Edirin Otigho Akpobome for his loving kindness all through this journey. Last, but not the least, I want to thank all my participants who contributed invaluable information to this study.

Table of Contents

Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Definitions of Terms	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations.	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
Contribution to Business Practice	9
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Herzberg Two Factor Theory	12
Related and Contrasting Theories to Herzberg's Two-Factor theory	16
The Hospitality Industry	23
Trends in the Hospitality Industry	27

	Concept of Employee Retention	33
	Employee Retention Strategies	34
	Concept and Effects of Job Satisfaction	36
	Employee Motivation and Retention	38
	Impact of Managers on Work Environment	40
	Transition and Summary	42
Se	ction 2: The Project	43
	Purpose Statement	43
	Role of the Researcher	44
	Participants	46
	Research Method and Design	47
	Method	48
	Research Design.	49
	Population and Sampling	50
	Ethical Research	52
	Data Collection	54
	Instruments	54
	Data Collection Technique	55
	Data Organization Techniques	57
	Data Analysis Technique	58
	Reliability and Validity	59
	Reliability	

Validity	60		
Transition and Summary	62		
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change			
Overview of Study	64		
Presentation of the Findings.	65		
Theme 1: Work Conditions and Employee Welfare	66		
Theme 2: Remuneration and Compensation	69		
Theme 3: Training and Career Development	71		
Theme 4: Reward and Recognition.	73		
Findings Related to Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory	74		
Applications to Professional Practice	76		
Implications for Social Change	78		
Recommendations for Action	80		
Recommendations for Further Study	81		
Reflections	83		
Summary and Conclusions	84		
References	86		
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	123		
Appendix B: Interview Questions	124		

List	of	Tab	les
LIST	O1	I uo	105

Table 1. Strategies Participants Adapted to Improve Employee Retention in the	
Hospitality Industry	66

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Employee retention is a priority for organizations to increase competition in business (Rakhra, 2018). With issues such as globalization, competition is becoming keener in most industries (Rakhra, 2018). Organizations need to attract and retain the best talents on the job for the long term to increase productivity and save on replacement costs (Kossivi et al., 2016). Businesses invest a massive amount of money and time in hiring new employees (Kossivi et al., 2016). A vacant position will decrease productivity and affect the morale of the employees (Siddiqui, 2015). The performance of a business organization depends on the productivity of the employees (Siddiqui, 2015). The purpose of this study is to explore the strategies that business leaders could use to retain employees in the hospitality industry.

Background of the Problem

Employee retention is a significant challenge in the hospitality industry. Some retention strategies include career development, improved benefits, a healthy work environment, and work-life balance (Ohunakin et al., 2018). To remain more competitive, business organizations need to attract the best talents and retain them on the job for a long time (Kossivi et al., 2016). Scouting for talented employees is one of the primary ways hospitality companies compete (McGinley et al., 2017). Business organizations with high employee turnover face challenges such as administrative costs, training, and recruitment costs (Pohler & Schmidt, 2015). A business could profit from retaining employees rather than making a new hire because of the costs associated with recruiting, selecting, and training new employees (Mwasaru & Kazungu, 2015).

Managers in the hospitality industry should understand business and people as they face the challenge of managing a constantly changing workforce (Hight et al., 2019). Some managers have not successfully addressed the problem of employee retention (Hight et al., 2019). Business owners are constantly challenged with employee retention due to unclear mission and market relevance (Cavallari, 2015). Managers need to design a communication and motivation strategy to retain employees and consider the types of benefits offered to employees (Carlino, 2017). Happy employees tend to remain on the job, and therefore business leaders need to provide incentives that will encourage employees (Mullen, 2016). Employees' good behavior is encouraged by the organization's incentives and focuses on a specific need (Mullen, 2016). Hospitality industry managers need to understand when to provide incentives to employees to increase employee job satisfaction and retention in the hotel industry (Mullen, 2016).

Problem Statement

High employee turnover rate in the hospitality industry can be costly in terms of time, money, and talent (Chahal & Poonam, 2017). Approximately 642,000 hospitality employees quit their jobs at the rate of 54% annually (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2019). The general business problem was that some managers do not understand how to address issues related to employee retention. The specific problem was that some hotel managers lack strategies to improve employee retention.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. The target population for this study

consisted of hotel managers in one hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, who had successfully retained employees. The results of this study could lead to positive social change by assisting hotel managers with developing and implementing strategies necessary to retain employees. Employee wages may increase with better benefits such as health insurance, vacation packages, and overtime pay as the business grows and improves financially. The implications for positive social change include increased job stability, thereby improving employee retention and economic prosperity for the communities.

Nature of the Study

Researchers use quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods to conduct research (Zoellner & Harris, 2017). I used the qualitative method for this study. Researchers use qualitative methods to gain greater insight and understanding into a research phenomenon (Hammarberg et al., 2016). A researcher identifies trends and patterns through a qualitative method (Albers, 2017). The qualitative method is a data collection process that generates nonnumerical data, which depends on the interaction between data collection and data analysis (Saunders et al., 2015). The quantitative method is the systematic empirical investigation that uses statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques (Baillie, 2015; Yin, 2018). The quantitative method was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was not to examine variables' characteristics or relationships.

The mixed method is a research procedure that involves collecting, analyzing, and integrating quantitative and qualitative data in a single study to enrich the general findings of the study (Bester et al., 2017; Yin, 2018). The mixed method approach was

not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was not to collect and analyze empirical data for examining variables' characteristics or relationships.

Quantitative and mixed methods were not appropriate for this study because the study's purpose was to explore strategies and practices in an organization. Therefore, the qualitative method was the most appropriate approach for this study because I sought to explore the strategies that some hotel managers use to improve employee retention.

In a qualitative study, researchers may use a case study, phenomenological, or ethnography design (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I used a single case study design for this study. Yin (2016) indicated that researchers use a case study design to explore the phenomenon and individuals over time. Using the case study design, I explored the employee retention strategies managers use in the hospitality industry. Phenomenological design is the process of identifying the personal meanings of individuals' lived experiences with an in-depth description of the meanings (Korcuska & Flynn, 2018). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was not to explore the personal meanings of employees' lived experiences in the hospitality industry.

Researchers use an ethnographic design to investigate the cultural phenomenon of a specific group or groups of people (Canevacci, 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2016). An ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because its purpose was not to focus on beliefs and shared patterns of employees in the hospitality industry. A qualitative case study is an intensive, holistic description and analysis of a single entity or phenomenon using multiple data sources (Yin, 2018). A multiple case study is likely to

produce more evidence, and its choice allows replication because similar results are predictable (Saunders et al., 2015). A single case study is an appropriate design under several circumstances and analogous to a single experiment (Yin, 2018). A single case study provides an opportunity for researchers to observe and analyze a phenomenon. Researchers use a single case design to explore the presumed causal links in real-world interventions that are too complex for the survey or experimental methods (Yin, 2018). Therefore, a single case study design was the most suitable research design for this study.

Research Question

What strategies do hotel managers use to improve employee retention?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to improve employee retention in your hotel?
- 2. What key challenges did you encounter while implementing employee retention strategies?
- 3. How did you address the key challenges to retain employees?
- 4. How do you sustain your retention strategies?
- 5. What are the key contributors to employee satisfaction in your hotel?
- 6. How, if at all, did your strategies motivate workers to improve job satisfaction?
- 7. How, if at all, did your employee retention strategies improve employee work conditions?
- 8. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies used to improve your hotel's employee retention?

Conceptual Framework

The two-factor theory (TFT), also known as the motivational-hygiene theory (MHT), was the conceptual framework for this study. Herzberg et al., (1959) proposed the TFT. The tenets of TFT consists of employee work-related needs and job-related factors. Work-related needs include promoting personal value, promoting employees' achievements, and improving employees' competence (Herzberg et al., 2011). The job-related needs consist of working conditions, interpersonal relations, and adequate supervision and employee management (Herzberg et al., 2011). The TFT can facilitate understanding the strategies that managers use to address employee commitment, motivation, job satisfaction, and job dissatisfaction which are essential for proactive organizational systems that shape the attitude and performance of workers (Cascio, 2014). Employees who are satisfied with their job tend to have improved work performance and organizational commitment, increasing employee retention and reducing employee turnover (Huffman et al., 2014).

The TFT was appropriate for the study because the theory's propositions enabled me to effectively explore the strategies managers use to retain employees in the hospitality industry. Hygiene factors such as better pay, and job security are required to keep workers motivated and satisfied with their job (Herzberg, 1987). The primary constructs of the two-factor theory, which are motivation and job satisfaction, were applicable to the study because managers in the hospitality industry should understand how to develop and implement strategies to improve employee retention.

Definitions of Terms

The following definitions of terms were used in this doctoral study:

Employee motivation: Employee motivation refers to the feeling, energy, effort, and driving force used to achieve individual and organizational goals (De Sousa et al., 2018).

Employee retention: Employee retention refers to an organization's ability to retain its employees for a maximum period (Fernandez & Worasuwan, 2017).

Hospitality industry: The hospitality industry is a service sector made up of establishments whose primary activities are the provision of accommodations, the selling of food, the sale of beverages for consumption on the premises, and the provision of entertainment with a continuous staff presence (Ofobruku et al., 2012).

Job satisfaction: Job satisfaction is the positive feeling an individual has about their job that arises from an evaluation of its characteristics (Schaumberg & Flynn, 2017).

Motivation: Motivation is a concern that rejuvenates, orients, and selects the behavior of an individual in the workplace, such as personal growth, salary, and working conditions (Elizabeth-Ann, 2019).

Work environment: Work environment is a flexible atmosphere where working experience is enjoyable and resources are adequately provided to improve productivity (Kossivi et al., 2016). The work environment is one factor that affects an employee's decision to stay with the organization.

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

A researcher should address the underlying assumptions, limitations, and delimitations for any study and present an unbiased discussion of each component to prevent misinterpretations (MacDermid, 2017). The following is a summary of the assumptions, limitations, and delimitations for this study.

Assumptions

Before undertaking this study, I made several assumptions. Assumptions in research are imaginary expectations believed to be true before the facts to guide the research in a direction (Leedy & Ormrod, 2015). Making assumptions occurs in the data collection process (Anfara & Mertz, 2015). Assumptions provide validity regarding the appropriateness of the decision (Anfara & Mertz, 2015). This study's first assumption was the choice of qualitative methodology as the appropriate method for exploring the employee retention strategies some business owners use in the hospitality industry. An assumption with qualitative researchers is to focus more on the participants' viewpoint to prevent bias (Yin, 2018). The second assumption was that all the participants would be honest in answering the questions without any bias. The third assumption was that a case study was a suitable design for the study. The final assumption was that Abuja, Nigeria, had a sufficient target population to obtain relevant data for the study.

Limitations

The limitations of a study are the factors that restrict the generalizability of findings (Liu & Ding, 2016). A researcher has no control over the limitations of a study (Bryman, 2016). As the primary researcher, I encountered limitations beyond my control.

Three limitations could have affected the completion and validity of this study. First, the time restrictions to collect the data from participants were beyond my control. Second, the study participants were limited to three managers from one hotel in Abuja. The results of the study might be different by expanding the study to another geographical area. Finally, participants biased responses might have been a limitation to this study.

Delimitations

Delimitations are the researcher-imposed boundaries that limit the scope of a study or define its boundaries (Berdychevsky & Gibson, 2015; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). This study's first delimitation was using a single case study and limiting the interview responses to three managers from one hotel in Abuja. The second delimitation of the study was the use of one hotel in Abuja, Nigeria. The study did not include participants living outside of Abuja, Nigeria. However, this study's findings might provide valuable insight and pertain to the hospitality industry outside of Nigeria. The final delimitation was that all participants could withdraw from the study without prior notice.

Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

The findings of this study might help managers of the hotel industry identify strategies needed in retaining employees. The retention of key employees is critical to an organization's long-term success (Mathimaran & Kumar, 2017). The strategy to retain employees is a fundamental means of achieving a competitive advantage in the business environment (Mwasaru & Kazungu, 2015). The results of this study might contribute to

the hospitality industry's success by identifying successful practices for the retention of employees. The research findings could be valuable to hospitality managers by providing insights for developing strategies to retain employees. Business managers could use this study to develop strategies to retain employees and reduce the cost of hiring new staff.

Implications for Social Change

This study has implications for positive social change. Managers in the hospitality industry might use this study's results to gain knowledge and a better understanding of strategies they need to retain employees, thereby creating job stability and security. The result of the study could lead to improved employee economic conditions for communities' benefits. Business organizations initiate positive social change projects into their business strategy to give back to society (Stephan et al., 2016). Managers in the hospitality industry could utilize the findings from this study to enhance job creation and improve the capabilities of the workforce by retaining employees. The retention of employees could increase tax revenues to support local and state governments' ability to benefit the citizens.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention. In this literature review, I documented relevant theories and antecedents to employee retention. The retention of employees' helps organizational growth, where longevity and success depend on the creativity, innovation, and flexibility (Mwasaru & Kazungu, 2015). In many organizations, human resource focus on employee retention due to the high costs of

employee attrition. Hotel industry leaders might improve the local community and economic conditions through the insights gained from this study.

Watson (2015) stated that a literature review should add support to the research topic. This literature review consists of two parts. The first part was the discussion and analysis of the conceptual framework, the Herzberg et al. (1959) two-factor theory of motivation and supporting and contrasting theories. The supporting and contracting theories include Alderfer's (1969) existence, relatedness, and growth (ERG) theory and Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory. The second part consists of a discussion of employee retention. The goal was to compare the conceptual framework with other theories to evaluate how the results of this review relate to employee retention.

I synthesized and analyzed the most current published resources on employee retention strategies in the hospitality industry. My literature search focused on peer-reviewed articles and journals found in the Walden library database, including ProQuest, EBSCOhost, Directory of Open Access Journals, Hospitality and Tourism Complete, ScienceDirect, Business Source Complete, Emerald, and SAGE. I also used the Google Scholar search engine to source academic articles and the Ulrich's Periodicals Directory website to verify peer-reviewed journals. The keywords and phrases I used for the literature search include *employee retention, employee motivation, organizational culture, employee satisfaction, hospitality industry, Herzberg's two-factor theory, employee turnover, work-life-balance and productivity.*

In this literature review, I used the two-factor theory of motivation developed by Herzberg et al. (1959) as the conceptual framework to explore the strategies that

managers use to improve staff retention. Business leaders could use employee commitment, motivation, job satisfaction, and job dissatisfaction to predict job performance (Wu et al., 2017). During this research, I identified other motivational theories that top management can use to instigate changes and promote favorable working conditions. For compliance with the criteria for scholarly writing established for Walden University's DBA program, I limited the search to scholarly articles published within 5 years of graduation. I used 147 peer-reviewed sources; 121 articles were published less than 5 years from the anticipated graduation date.

In the literature review, I discussed the conceptual framework, Herzberg's two-factor theory, to justify and explain other researchers' perspectives on strategies hospitality managers need to retain employees. Next, I presented a review of related and contrasting theories - Alderfer's (1969) ERG theory and Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory. Other themes discussed in the literature review include the hospitality industry, trends in the hospitality industry, employee retention, organizational loss, job satisfaction, effects of job satisfaction, employee motivation, and impact of managers on the work environment. The review ends with a summary, a discussion of the gap, and conclusions of the findings from the reviewed studies.

Herzberg Two Factor Theory

The most appropriate conceptual framework which supports the foundation of this study was the Herzberg et. al., (1959) two-factor theory developed in 1959. Herzberg et al. (1959) were considered pioneers in motivation theory because of the emergence of two qualitatively different sets of factors: motivation and hygiene. The motivation factors

provide job satisfaction, while the hygiene factors provide job dissatisfaction. The factors led managers to consider two different job characteristics (Sanjeev & Surya, 2016). The hygiene factors are indirectly related to the job, whereas the motivators are directly related to the task. Hygiene factors maintain a high level of satisfaction but also contributes to dissatisfaction when those factors are inadequate. An increase in hygiene factors will not motivate an employee but may reduce job dissatisfaction (Vijayakumar & Saxena, 2015).

Managers should understand the factors that affect job satisfaction. Motivators and hygiene factors are two separate dimensions that affect various aspects of job satisfaction (Jaworski et al., 2018). Job satisfaction differs from the traditional approach because job satisfaction and dissatisfaction are opposite ends of the same continuum (Herzberg & Dunnette, 1967). Herzberg et al. (1959) analyzed 155 research studies published between 1920 and 1954 to answer the following question: What do people want from their jobs? The results indicated that some job factors were satisfiers, such as working in a pleasant environment. In contrast, others were dissatisfied because of a bad working environment. The terms *motivator* and *hygiene* factors led to the development of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation.

Motivating factors may create job satisfaction and increase the intention to remain in an organization. Herzberg et al. (1959) posited that the six factors that drive employees at work are recognition, responsibility on the job, achievement, employment, growth, and advancement. In the absence of these motivators at work, employees do not tend to be dissatisfied but are not satisfied. Motivational factors such as friendship and

acknowledgement by supervisors can compensate for the lack of hygiene factors (Alverén et al., 2012). Researchers have demonstrated that non-challenging or non-meaningful work reduces employee motivation and job satisfaction (Herzberg et al., 1959). Business leaders should assign challenging or meaningful tasks to employees to improve their motivation and job satisfaction.

Herzberg's two-factor theory includes two elements, intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, that affect employees' productivity because of their satisfaction (Damij et al., 2015). Intrinsic motivation originates from within an individual and includes religious beliefs, personal views, and political factors (Hazra et al., 2014). Herzberg et al. (1959) argued that intrinsic motivators reflect psychological and self-fulfillment needs described by Maslow (1943), which generates satisfaction and increase performance outcomes. Employees who are not satisfied do not demonstrate reduced productivity; instead, they become involved in their jobs by investing extra effort for higher achievement. Happy workers spend more energy, increasing in their productivity (Herzberg et al., 1959). Managers should understand the strategies to improve employees' motivation and job satisfaction.

The hygiene factors of the two-factor theory are related to the job context associated with employees' job dissatisfaction and are extrinsic to the job. The hygiene factors include salary, work conditions; supervision; interpersonal relationships with peers, subordinates, and supervisors; company policy; and personal life. According to the theory, the absence of hygiene factors can create job dissatisfaction; however, their presence does not motivate or create satisfaction. Hooi and Leong (2015) posited that

hygiene factors of competitive wages and benefits did not help to retain workers. When the hygiene factors in an organization seem good, employees do not become satisfied; they become not dissatisfied. Dissatisfaction attributes are extrinsic factors arising from the job context, such as interpersonal relationships with the supervisor and peers, salary, work conditions, security and safety (Herzberg et al., 1959). The absence of hygiene factors in an organization leads to reduced productivity (Herzberg et al., 1959).

Several researchers in the hospitality industry have used Herzberg's two-factor theory to examine employees' motivation and job satisfaction with mixed results (Hyun & Oh, 2011). Holston-Okae and Mushi (2018) used the two-factor theory to assess the relationships among hospitality employees' turnover intentions, job satisfaction, motivation, and motivational factors. The results suggested that job satisfaction, compensation, employee engagement, and work environment are significant predictors of turnover intentions, while motivation is not. There is a need for future research on the relationship between motivation and turnover intentions (Ann & Blum, 2020). Harris et al. (2017) applied Herzberg's two-factor theory and Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory in their research. Their findings supported some parts of Herzberg's theory that intrinsic and extrinsic factors are positive predictors of restaurant employees' motivation. The results implied that fundamental variables contribute more actively to restaurant workers' motivations than the external variables.

Many researchers have applied Herzberg's two-factor theory in their study. Hsiao et al. (2017) investigated employees' perceptions of motivators and hygiene factors in Taiwanese hotels using Herzberg's two-factor theory and an importance-performance

analysis. The results revealed that hotel employees with a high level of organizational diversity had higher job satisfaction levels, corporate image, job suitability (motivation factors), and job security (hygiene factors). Hsiao et al. advised Taiwanese hotel managers to improve their performance on rapid employee advancement, training opportunities, and salary.

Managers should devise a way to engage employees to commit the full range of their efforts and abilities to contribute to the organization (Book et al., 2019). Lundberg et al. (2009) investigated the motivation of seasonal workers in the hospitality industry using the two-factor theory. The results indicated that the satisfaction of higher needs, such as self-fulfillment needs (motivator factors), is more significant than the everyday needs, such as salary (hygiene factors). McPhail et al. (2015) posited that factors of internal focus of control, variety in job duties, and potential for advancement in a career contributed to the intention to stay in the hospitality industry. Herzberg's two-factor theory is a practical framework for exploring the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention.

Related and Contrasting Theories to Herzberg's Two-Factor theory

Herzberg's Two-Factor theory was the conceptual framework for this study.

There were two alternative theories: Alderfer's (1969) ERG theory and Vroom's (1964) expectancy theory. In this section, I examined the two theories and their effect on employee retention in the hospitality industry.

Alderfer's (1969) Existence, Relatedness, and Growth (ERG) Theory.

According to Alderfer's (1969) ERG theory, humans are motivated by three core needs:

existence, relatedness, and growth. Existence relates to the basic requirements for day-to-day living, which are physiological and safety needs. Relatedness is the need for social interaction, which are human's social, acceptance, belongingness, and status desires.

Growth is the complex need for self-esteem, representing human's desire for personal development, self-fulfillment, and self-actualization (Alderfer, 1969). Alderfer reformulated Maslow's hierarchy of needs into three more general need levels (Sahito & Vaisanen, 2017).

Alderfer (1969) grouped basic physical needs that the regular paycheck traditionally provides, such as shelter, health, safety, and security. These basic physical needs encapsulate the physiological and security needs in Maslow's hierarchy of needs. Alderfer (1969) noted the need to satisfy both the physiological and security needs; therefore, there is no reason to separate the two (Maforah, 2015). In relatedness, Alderfer (1969) also proposed that workers are motivated to satisfy more complex social needs that reflect their relationships with coworkers and supervisors, friends outside the workplace, and family members. The relatedness need is the same as Maslow's social needs. In the growth area, Alderfer (1969) posited that workers require work to be meaningful, feel engaged and creative, and find levels of self-fulfillment and self-esteem. The growth need aligns with level 5 and level 4 in Maslow's hierarchy (Dewey, 2018).

Many researchers have explained the significance of Alderfer's ERG theory on employee motivation and job satisfaction. Chen et al. (2015) showed that a significant relationship exists between satisfying employees' needs and their growth or internal self-esteem, and there can be detrimental effects by meeting only one need at a time. For

instance, an employee working in the hospitality industry would struggle with motivation when growth needs are absent despite meeting their basic existence needs. Such an employee may be frustrated by a lack of growth, channeling efforts toward achieving self-esteem from a colleague.

Alderfer's (1969) model allows for greater flexibility to explain how managers can effectively motivate workers to maximize productivity and job satisfaction (Anyim et al., 2012). One of the main strengths of Alderfer's theory is the job-specific nature of its focus. Alderfer (1969) made specific reference to pay fringe benefits, relatedness needs from coworkers and superiors, and growth need satisfaction at work. Many information systems researchers have sought to apply Alderfer's (1969) ERG theory to develop a more comprehensive measure to advance the theoretical rigor of the field. Sun and Teng (2017) focused their study on daily internet use rather than general information system use in the organizational context. Based on the ERG theory, equity theory, and expectation theory, Sun and Teng developed an equitable needs fulfillment model with scales to measure work performance fulfillment, relatedness fulfillment, and self-development fulfillment. The self-development fulfillment need corresponds to the growing need in ERG theory, in which Sun and Teng placed the concept of job security as a fundamental element.

Yeh and Teng (2012) applied the ERG theory with a formative construct of perceived usefulness comprised of relatedness fulfillment, self-development fulfillment, perceived extended value of efficiency, and perceived effectiveness. The results indicated a higher variance of the perceived extended usefulness in the needs fulfillment construct.

The self-development fulfillment component accounted for some variation, but the relatedness fulfillment component was not significant. Yeh and Teng attempted to theorize the value of information systems and products based on the ERG concept. Chennamaneni et al. (2012) also applied the ERG theory to examine human needs that motivate knowledge sharing in organizations. Chennamaneni et al. (2012) proposed the task-performance, job-interaction, and work-enrichment benefit framework, which corresponded to the ERG theory.

Simonds et al. (2016) explored the effect of Alderfer's ERG theory of human motivation in the workplace as an explanatory framework to understand adjuncts' professional needs within online university programs. Four adjunct faculty members participated in the study by completing an electronic survey. According to Simonds et al., less than half of the participants' ERG needs were high. According to Alderfer's ERG theory, Simonds et al. expected that the participants' level of satisfaction with teaching in the program would have been low. However, all four adjunct participants enjoyed teaching in the program. Alderfer (1969) ERG's theory states that some types of needs may be impossible to achieve. An individual who strives to grow and develop due to a strong desire to overcome adversity and succeed may account for the positive feelings about teaching in the program (Simonds et al., 2016). Alderfer's ERG theory was an explanatory framework for the key themes that emerged from participant communications. The participants reported the need for more help with the basics of teaching (existence needs), the need for better communication (relationship needs), and the need for ongoing professional development (growth needs).

The implementation of the Alderfer's ERG theory in the study would have assumed that hospitality managers should recognize employees' existence, relatedness, and growth needs. Managers who identify the various ERG needs of employees understand an employees' behavior and what motivates them (Alderfer, 1969). Alderfer's ERG theory was not appropriate for the study because the application of ERG needs would not have been adequate in explaining the hotel managers' intentions to improve employee retention.

theory to successfully explain motivation in a different organizational context (Chou & Pearson, 2012). The Vroom (1964) theory, also known as the valence, instrumentality, expectancy (VIE) model, has a composition of three antecedents that motivate individuals to put forth an effort to attain an outcome. The three antecedents are expectancy, instrumentality, and valence. Vroom posited that people choose to act in a hedonistic manner, preferring the actions that will bring them the highest expected subjective utility. According to Vroom, motivational forces depend on the expectation that the effort will produce performance. The performance will lead to rewards, and the value attributed to awards. Performance and rewards are inversely proportional to the difficulty of fulfilling the task. The lack of any element of the relationship will lead to a lack of motivation (Leonina, 2017).

Expectancy. Expectancy refers to the effort an individual need to improve performance, which depends on the self-efficacy, goal difficulty, skills of the employee, experience, knowledge, and perceived control. Employees are motivated to work harder

but will reduce their expectation if they do not feel fit for the task (Nimri et al., 2015).

The expectation is subjectively perceived, though it refers to impartial elements.

Organizations can influence expectations through training policy, internal mobility, organization of work, and coaching as a form of supervision. High expectancy is likely to motivate individuals to engage in specific behaviours (Hsu et al., 2014). Hospitality managers can strategize engaging and challenging jobs to ensure that employees feel rewarded for their performance (Purvis et al., 2015).

Instrumentality. Instrumentality refers to the employees' belief that a reward will accompany an excellent performance. Instrumentality is composed of three variables: trust, control, and policies. People work much faster if they get financial rewards or if their work affects their opportunities for promotion. Instrumentality is objective because of elements of the working environment, such as remuneration and appreciation (Hsu et al., 2014). Instrumentality may also be subjective if employees are not adequately informed about its details. The influence of employees' instrumentality can be through payroll policy, the superiors' attitude, promotion policy, appreciation system, and information given to employees. A certain level of performance is necessary to attain individual goals (Hsu et al., 2014).

Valence. Valence is the value an employee attributes to a reward. Valence is related to the needs, goals, values, preferences, and sources of the employee's motivation of the. It is not enough that rewards are correctly perceived, but the individual desire them. The organization may influence valence by the type of bonuses offered to

employees, such as negative valence, extrinsic valence, and intrinsic valence. For instance, in the hotel industry, the nature of work, low pay, and long working hours play a significant role in high turnovers (Fernandez & Worasuwan, 2017). Hence, to effectively address the turnover issue, motivation could be a crucial and ongoing issue for managers within hotel operations. Therefore, Vroom's expectancy theory offers a broad framework for assessing, evaluating, and interpreting employees' behaviors in attitude formation, decision making, learning, and motivation.

The motivational force is the amount of effort a person will put forth to attain a specific goal. Based on a combination of the three factors, employees select the element that gives them the highest motivation force (Nimri et al., 2015). The higher the factor, the higher the performance. Vroom's expectancy theory is dependent on the perception of effort and achievement, performance and reward, and knowledge of the value of the award. One aspect of the expectancy theory is that managers and supervisors unconsciously cease paying attention to their employees as a fallout of their endeavors to lead them (Vroom, 1964). Numerous studies support Vroom's theory and correlate the three independent variables positively. A meta-analysis of seventy-seven studies indicated that Vroom theory significantly predicted performance, effort, intentions, preference, and choice (Van Eerde & Thierry, 1996). Burton et al. (1992) found that the attractiveness of the system influenced employees' motivation to use a new expert system. Research in other domains has identified the usefulness of expectancy theory in predicting employee motivation and future employment status (Lynd-Stevenson, 1999).

According to Carnes and Knotts (2018), the instrumentality and expectancy elements of Vroom's theory are the key factors in considering the potential for a relationship between locus of control (LOC) and entitlement. As individuals have certain levels of beliefs, it can influence various aspects of their life. The results suggest that individuals with high internal LOC have a high expectancy of a secure link between effort, achievement, and rewards. In contrast, externals have a low likelihood and do not recognize the indirect link between effort and rewards. Honkaniemi et al. (2015) used the expectancy theory to investigate how perceptions of relationships between well-being and innovativeness could serve as plausible links to valuable outcomes in motivation to participate in innovation activities or improve well-being. Perceptions count when communicating the benefits of participating in innovation activities to employees (Vroom, 1964). Motivated behaviour is a result of perceptions of valence and expectancy. Vroom's expectancy theory was not ideal for this study.

The Hospitality Industry

The hospitality sector is one of the world's fastest-growing industries (Fernandez & Worasuwan, 2017). The hotel industry is the most prominent service industry globally and are significant contributors to the gross domestic product (GDP) in developed and developing nations (Mohamed, 2016). The industry makes up about 8% of all U.S. employment, with two-fifths of the employees in hospitality working part-time (U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2016) and less than 1% of the Nigerian economy (Nwosu & Ward, 2016). To ensure the hospitality industry contributes to a

country's growth and development, all stakeholders must exercise commitment to duty in service delivery (Emmanuel & Damachi, 2015).

A high level of work-related stress characterizes the hotel industry. Some examples of stressful working conditions are long and irregular working hours, low pay, excessive workload, and imbalanced work-life (Mansour & Tremblay, 2018). Employee turnover is a common factor in the service industry due to poor job satisfaction. A critical, challenging issue in the hospitality industry is employee turnover (Santhanam et al., 2017). Hospitality employees leave careers because of long hours, negative work-life balance, and inadequate compensation (Brown et al., 2015). The frontline employees are the face of the industry, and their direct interaction with customers contributes to the image of the business. The retention of frontline hotel employees reduces tangible and intangible costs that stem from high turnover.

The hospitality industry may undertake corporate social responsibility practices to increase employee retention. Hospitality organizations benefited from employer-employee corporate social responsibility engagement by having fun, pride, development of skills, and team building (Supanti et al., 2015). There is a positive relationship between a hospitality employee's perception of corporate social responsibility programs and organizational commitment, which reduces turnover intentions (Kim et al., 2016). By undertaking corporate social responsibility initiatives, hotel managers could improve employee retention in the hospitality industry.

The hospitality and tourism industry plays a significant role in economic development and job creation worldwide. A skilled and productive labor force will be

vital for continued economic growth in the hospitality industry (Quinn & Buzzetto-Hollywood, 2019). The intensity of the workforce in the hospitality industry is attributable to the irreplaceable role of personal services (Harjanti & Todani, 2019). Working in the hospitality industry can be tiresome for employees. The hospitality industry has a high rate of employment worldwide (Grobelna, 2015). The nature of the service industry requires frontline hospitality employees to be adept at technical proficiencies and emotional delivery (Hight et al., 2019). Employees face work demands, complex procedures, and intense interpersonal relationships at every stage of work. The employees must be responsive to serve customers who have different needs with minimum error rates.

An individual who is either not engaged or actively disengaged does not exhibit outwardly hostile or deviant behavior (Hight et al., 2019). This behavior can result in a significant loss of productivity, higher turnover, and ultimately, a decrease in firm performance. The nature of the service industry requires that frontline hospitality employees be adept at technical proficiencies and emotional delivery. Favorable treatment of employees by management can result in improved attitudes, improved firm performance, and enhanced desire to remain employed within the organization.

Employees who perceive their managers as bad will exhibit lower job satisfaction. The competencies and skills required of hospitality managers are different from those of other industries. A hospitality manager should be business savvy, people savvy and self-savvy. Supervisory skills and leadership are functional management competencies needed to improve employee relations and reduce turnover intentions (Hight et al., 2019). Hotel

managers should have adequate competencies and skills to improve employee retention in the hospitality industry.

The Nigerian hospitality industry has a slow growth rate, poor service quality, and many unqualified employees (Olusegun & Olusola, 2016). There is a lack of resources to transform the sector with inadequate human capital (Esu, 2015). It is a common practice to source for expatriate's expertise, which creates an accessible entrance for foreign hotels (Olusegun & Olusola, 2016). The shortage of trained and qualified workforce is a significant deterrent to the growth and development of the hospitality industry because business owners are unwilling to invest in human resources development and training. The hospitality industry stakeholder in Nigeria does not appreciate developing professionalism (Abomeh, 2012). Hotel managers could improve employee retention in the hospitality industry by investing in human resources development and training.

Many hotel managers have recognized the need to improve employee retention. The hospitality industry has outdated facilities that hinder productivity and growth (Samson & Timothy, 2014). The reduced services and unethical behavior of professionals in the sector contribute immensely to the challenges of the Nigerian hospitality sector (Olusegun & Olusola, 2016). The hospitality industry operates on low standards of services. Most hotel owners have not realized the significance of recruiting people with the requisite skills to manage the hospitality business. The Nigerian hospitality industry is overwhelmed by the government's multiple taxation demands (Adeola & Kennedy, 2016). The federal, state, and local government taxes increase the operating costs of the hospitality business in Nigeria.

Trends in the Hospitality Industry

The hospitality industry is part of the service industries. The hospitality industry is one of the driving forces of the global economy (Perepelytsia & Yurchenko, 2019). Serving and solving the problems of travelers is the focus of the hospitality industry. The services that the hospitality industry provide are intangible because the travelers cannot see, feel, or touch the service before purchasing it (Grotte, 2015). The macro and the micro-environment of the market influences the operation of the hospitality sector. The cultural, political, technological, and economic environment has a significant impact on the hospitality industry. In this subsection, I discuss four factors that could impact the hospitality industry: technology, human resources, innovation, and knowledge management.

Technology. The use of technology in tourism provides exclusive services to customers (Sherri, 2015). Customers expect personalized experiences within the hotel, such as welcome messages on the television screen, food preferences, and available amenities. The industry has adopted new technologies in recent years that have reshaped service delivery procedures, such as digital check-in and face recognition systems (Díaz, 2019). The intensity of competition in the business environment has propelled the hospitality industry to work hard to maintain and develop its competitiveness. The hotels were previously a place for guest to lay their heads away from home; however, the role of technology in the hospitality business has expanded (O'Halloran, 2015).

Hotels can attract a new breed of customers by integrating technology in all aspects of their services (Perepelytsia & Yurchenko, 2019). The internet system grows

and spreads into different parts of everyday life. The hospitality industry is inclined to follow this growing trend to offer new services to its guests to enact cost-saving measures and increase revenues (Brochado et al., 2016). Hospitality service providers (HSP) add a host of new services to their guests, such as automatic adjustment of in-room temperature, lighting, and wake-up call (Tussyadiah et al., 2015). HSP offers several cost-saving measures to manage on-property energy consumption by leveraging technology (Hsiao et al., 2018).

The internet of things (IoT) technologies can significantly expand the scope of energy-saving systems. The IoT is the interconnection of visible devices like sensors, identification tags, and mobile devices. The devices interconnect directly or indirectly through local communication networks or the internet (Kansakar et al., 2019). A smartly designed guest app can make reservations, check-in and check-out, and cancel and modify the customers' stay a delightful experience (Tussyadiah et al., 2015). Guests and service providers benefit from building automation and monitoring new hospitality services such as keyless entry services, digital concierge, and security cameras (Vermesan & Friess, 2014).

HSPs are coming up with new ways to incorporate augmented reality and beacon technology into their on-property systems, such as digitally guided tours, previews of inroom environment, and translation services (Tussyadiah et al., 2015). Some hotels have adopted the use of artificial intelligence (AI). For example, Hilton Hotel unveiled an AI-based concierge in 2016. The robot interacts with guests and responds to their questions in a friendly and informative manner. AI is an expensive technology, but as hotel chains

start to use it more frequently, the cost will be affordable and available to independent hotels in the coming years (Babenko et al., 2017). The hospitality industries are social phenomena, and the industries associated with them are primarily application oriented.

Human Resources. The management of the people (human resources) in an organization is essential for achieving positive employees' attitudes and behavior in the workplace (Metilelu, 2016). An organization's most asset is a stable workforce that consists of committed employees (Jena & Pradhan, 2018). Human resources are the combination of skills and knowledge acquired by the individual to increase their worth in the labor market (Metilelu, 2016). Human resource management (HRM) practices contribute to developing and raising the level of commitment of employees. Hotel managers should increase the workforce's commitment and motivation to improve employee retention in the hospitality industry.

Managers in the hospitality industry should empower employees to work and motivate themselves to continue their careers and increase their desire to stay longer at work (Yousaf et al., 2018). High compensation and fair performance appraisal systems are essential HRM practices associated with employee turnover intention (Dechawatanapaisal, 2018; Shaukat et al., 2017). The HRM managers in the hospitality industry are responsible for providing the organization with the best employees to deliver quality services. By implementing a good compensation plan and fair performance appraisal systems, hotel managers could improve employee retention in the hospitality industry.

The lack of promotion and training, and development programs contributes to employee turnover in the hospitality sector. The impact of the quality of human resources in the tourism industry has always been a fundamental characteristic of the service-driven sector (Dechawatanapaisal, 2018). Human resources are a significant area of interest within the field of tourism and hospitality. A positive relationship exists between human resources, skills, and the performance of economic activities (Metilelu, 2016). Attracting and retaining good employees continues to be a challenge to the hospitality industry (Murray, 2016). A trend that is worrisome specifically for tourism is the existence of the ageing workforce. The importance of employees in the tourism industry is high for numerous reasons. Hotel owners should adopt new approaches to address labor needs that satisfy operators' skill requirements while enhancing employees' experiences.

The hospitality industry has a damaged reputation due to its long hours of work, including weekends and holidays, for low pay (Murray, 2016). Employees will envision the hospitality and tourism industry as a career if they are receiving career-style wages, have the potential for future growth, and collect fair compensation for their hard work (Murray et al., 2017). The workforce demand-supply gap in the hospitality sector has increased due to the lack of adequate infrastructure. The HRM influences the psychological contract breach on employees' attitude and behavior (Santhanam et al., 2017). The government can control the labor shortage in the hospitality industry by revisiting the challenge of seasonality and short-term labor demands.

Innovation. Hotels are one of the most competitive businesses in the world. The inability of the hospitality industry to innovate lowers productivity than in all other

sectors of the economy (Martin-Rios & Ciobanu, 2019). There is a need to analyze traditional innovation practices and create new strategic paradigms. The implementation of innovative practices has attracted complex innovation strategies, combining technology-driven and non-technological forms of innovation (Karlsson & Tavassoli, 2016). Innovation strategy, service, and process are technological developments, while organizational and marketing innovations are non-technological innovations (Černe et al., 2016).

An innovation strategy is a requirement for succeeding in today's competitive environment. The importance of this trend is the need for various forms of innovation in the hospitality industry to stay competitive and profitable (Martin-Rios & Ciobanu, 2019). An innovation strategy ensures that firms remain proactive, positively affecting organizational competitiveness (Lin, 2013). Hospitality firms are inclined to broaden the scope of innovation and depart from the narrower technology-driven innovation (Černe et al., 2016). Non-technological innovation can include novel approaches to commercialize firm assets, new managerial, technical practices, and establish alternative ways of managing employees (Martin-Rios & Parga-Dans, 2016a).

The hospitality industry and the broader service sector share certain features that influence their innovation strategy. The vast diversity of firms in the service industry innovate in different ways, depending on their subsector. The hotel industry implements innovation strategies that share similarities and differences with other service activities (Martin-Rios & Ciobanu, 2019). The hospitality sector is a labor-intensive, primarily seasonal, cost-driven industry with significant technological innovation investments, as

may be the case in other service activities (Sharma et al., 2016). Global competition, technological advancement, and changing customer demands may force hospitality firms to intensify innovation.

Knowledge Management. Knowledge management (KM) mechanisms are vital components that are substantial in managing hospitality organizations. KM adds to operative maneuvers and creates competitive benefits over the other players in the tourism and hospitality industry (Musyoki et al., 2017). Employees' motivations serve as crucial factors to successfully facilitate knowledge flow in organizations (Wang & Hou, 2015). Factors that motivate employees to engage in KM behaviors are worth investigating in the hospitality context (Lee, 2016). Employees in the hospitality industry are encouraged to respond to customers' demands and preferences by facilitating KM behaviors (Hon & Lui, 2016). Consequently, hotels must save experiences, which could not be lost when employees leave the hotel. The industry also needs to support unskilled workers and new employees with other employees' experiences (Musyoki et al., 2017). Firms can exploit knowledge resources through proper KM to create value.

The concept of KM is rooted in the resource-based view and the knowledge-based view of the organization (Donate & de Pablo, 2015). Hotel owners should improve and improve KM based on the specific requirements in hotels. KM aims to identify, generate, accumulate, save, retrieve, and distribute knowledge to improve service quality (Musyoki et al., 2017). Many organizations are investing more money and time in KM to facilitate the collection, storage, and dissemination of knowledge to be more competitive (Motshegwa, 2017; Shamim et al., 2017). Organizations must identify knowledge loss

risks and issues that affect knowledge retention. When an employee leaves the organization, the knowledge and talent also leave with the employee (Shamim et al., 2017). Hotel managers should improve employee retention to enhance organizational knowledge and experience.

Employee turnover could affect customer service delivery. Customer expectations are on the increase, and hotels need to meet these expectations and maintain customer satisfaction and loyalty by enhancing service quality (Shamim et al., 2017). Researchers have identified the need for hospitality organizations to transform individual employee knowledge by effective KM among employees at the individual level (Kim & Lee, 2013). Knowledge is an important strategic asset, which provides a competitive advantage to the organization and the individual employees (Shamim et al., 2017). Business leaders should understand the criticality of sharing knowledge for organizational growth and competitiveness.

Concept of Employee Retention

Retention is a voluntary move by an organization to create a suitable environment that engages employees for the long term (De Sousa et al., 2018). Employee retention policies focus on identifying and retaining committed employees. Innovative and inclusion programs with good supervisors can promote employee retention. Business leaders' capability to understand how to retain and motivate workers is critical to an organization's success (Schuler, 2015). Employee retention refers to an organization's ability to retain its employees (Fernandez & Worasuwan, 2017). Some strategies business leaders use to retain employees include (a) management opportunities, (b) compensation

and rewards, (c) onboarding, employee engagement programs, and (d) socialization, training, and development. Hotel managers should develop strategies to retain employees.

Researchers have identified some aspect of employee retention. Employee retention attributes are engagement with a pleasant working environment, positive working relationships, inspiring leadership, training and development, excellent remuneration, organizational policies, and management's interest in employee well-being (Ruiz & Davis, 2017). Motivated employees help organizations to reach their objectives and to earn a profit. The success of every hotel industry is based on their employees because employees are accountable for delivering quality service to customers (Bangwal & Tiwari, 2019). Employers ought to provide a signature experience to their employees to establish a committed workforce throughout their professional careers.

The impact of employee turnover in the hospitality industry has made executives understand the value of retaining top-notch employees. The right employees must be attracted, developed, and retained in an organization (Rose & Raja, 2016). Retention factors include training and development, career opportunities, supervisor support, job characteristics, work/life balance, and compensation. The retention of satisfied and committed employees is central to the success of the organization in the hospitality industry (Karatepe & Magaji, 2008). Employee retention is vital because it reduces training and development costs.

Employee Retention Strategies

Employee retention strategy is a fundamental means of achieving a competitive advantage in the business environment (Kossivi et al., 2016). Business organizations use

different strategies to provide effective communication policies to improve commitment and enhance workforce support (Becker & Tews, 2016). To retain the best employees, managers should implement strategies to satisfy employees' needs, such as promotion, career development, incentives, and flexible work hours policies. Hospitality managers can support fun interactions at work with co-worker's socialization as an essential strategy to promote retention (Becker & Tews, 2016). A strong retention strategy becomes a powerful recruitment tool. Retaining the best employees ensures customer satisfaction and increased productivity.

Employee retention is a vital organizational issue involving training time and investment, lost knowledge, insecure employees, and a costly candidate search. Satisfied employees are more dynamic, resourceful, and likely to be retained by the organization (Rose & Raja, 2016). For organizations to keep employee's satisfaction high, they need to implement respect, recognition, and rewards (Kossivi et al., 2016).

Most organizations invest money and time to train new hires to attain the level of existing employees. Retention eliminates the cost of hiring and training new employees. The loss of skilled and experienced employees has some financial burden on organizations (Baharin & Hanafi, 2018; Yam et al., 2018). There are direct and indirect costs associated with the process of a new hire (Mwasaru, & Kazungu, 2015). High employee turnover will hurt the direct and indirect costs of the organization. An organization loses when an employee leaves the job. In most organizations, the loss of a middle manager costs up to five times the salary (Mathimaran & Kumar, 2017). It is better to retain employees than to make a new hire. Also, a high employee turnover

propagates risk to the organization (Chowdhury & Md, 2017). Organizations that attract and retain top talent employees will thrive, but those firms that do not retain staffs will face challenges (De Sousa et al., 2018). The positive impacts of employee retention are increased sales growth and improved employee morale.

Concept and Effects of Job Satisfaction

Employees that experience job satisfaction stays longer on the job. Job satisfaction is an indispensable subject of interest in every organization, becoming a shared experience for employees in the workplace (Abouraia & Othman, 2017).

Employee job satisfaction can be defined as overall work satisfaction and feeling towards an aspect of work (Ohunakin et al., 2019). Job satisfaction and organizational commitment describe employees' affective responses to their jobs and attachment to their organizations. Job satisfaction is a critical factor in attracting and retaining a skilled workforce (Stamolampros et al., 2019). Hotel managers should understand the critical factors that influence job satisfaction to improve employee retention.

There exists a positive relationship between employee satisfaction, customer satisfaction, and corporate performance (Symitsi et al., 2018). This relationship is evident in high-contact service industries that require contact between the service provider and the customer (Symitsi et al., 2018). The hospitality industry is a high-contact service sector, where most of the services are through interaction between customers and employees (Kong et al., 2018). Employees with a low level of satisfaction have less incentive to excel, which may lower their performance (McPhail et al., 2015). The

hospitality industry has a higher level of employee dissatisfaction than other sectors (Investors in People, 2018).

Several factors contribute to job satisfaction, such as work-related, social and family, and organizational factors (McPhail et al., 2015). The work-related factors focus on the contents of the job and employment characteristics. Role conflict and ambiguity harm job satisfaction among employees (McPhail et al., 2015). Job roles that require higher poignant effort increase job satisfaction. There is a positive effect of empowerment on employee satisfaction, with a higher impact on customer-facing than non-customer facing employees (Lee et al., 2016). Customer-facing employees are individuals that have physical contact with clients. Employees are more likely to experience higher job satisfaction when they perceive their co-workers as receptive and competent individuals (Bufquin et al., 2017). Hotel employees work in an environment with limited family-supportive supervisors; consequently, employees cannot participate in important family and social activities (Stamolampros et al., 2019).

Hotel employee job satisfaction for newcomers is positively affected by organizational socialization tactics (Song et al., 2015). Several organizational aspects influence job satisfaction for employees in the hospitality industry. An individual's perception of the organization is related to job satisfaction. Employees also have an increased level of job satisfaction when they work for companies that implement corporate social responsibility (Stamolampros et al., 2019). Some organizational factors that increase job satisfaction are (a) training, (b) compensation, (c) role clarity, (d) work engagement, (e) organizational structure, and (f) career prospects (McPhail et al., 2015).

A team-oriented corporate culture enhances innovation and employee development, leading to higher job satisfaction (McPhail et al., 2015). Some individuals could be satisfied with one aspect of their job and be dissatisfied with another element. Developing and maintaining superior performance from employees is critical for a hotel's success (Marshall et al., 2016).

Employee Motivation and Retention

Motivation is from the Latin language, which means to move (Mangi et al., 2015). Motivation is the individuals' desire to demonstrate the willingness to exert effort. There are several definitions of motivation, but they have common characteristics: (a) what energizes human behavior, (b) what directs this behavior, and (c) how to sustain such practice (Enkhbayar & Bixiang, 2018). Employee motivation refers to the feeling, energy, effort, and driving force used to achieve individual and organizational goals (De Sousa et al., 2018). There are intrinsic and extrinsic factors that influence employee motivation. The intrinsic factors refer to the internal elements such as personal growth and satisfaction from engagement with the work. The extrinsic factors are external elements such as financial rewards, working conditions, management, and leadership (Ann & Blum, 2020). Manager's use of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation on employees is a foremost part of the organizational retention plan (Mangi et al., 2015).

Motivation comes from either inside an employee or their environment

(Karahanna et al., 2015). Employers can motivate employees through compensation

benefits and flexible compensation plans, which are relevant to employee performance.

Good wages can motivate employees. Frequent communications with employees enhance

the motivation of the employee (Sarmad et al., 2016). Motivation encourages employees to improve their skills and improve their morale. The satisfaction of basic needs in a work context enhances work motivation. The employee will feel motivated to perform better when they achieve their personal needs, interests, and goals. The availability of resources has motivating power and could affect job demands. Organizational resources enable employees to cope better with the job demands (Verbruggen et al., 2015).

An organization cannot operate for a long time without motivation (Verbruggen et al., 2015). Employers need to train and develop all motivated employees to achieve organizational goals. Employees have several skills and knowledge, which can be inactive without motivation (Enkhbayar & Bixiang, 2018). Various factors can motivate the employee, such as good pay and benefits, adequate training and development, and an opportunity for career growth and promotion. Employee motivation is one of the crucial aspects of business in today's dynamic world. Employees could easily carry out complex and challenging task when motivated. Motivation is critical for capacity development, enabling individuals and organizations to perform their functions effectively and efficiently.

The work environment is a critical factor that significantly affects how employees perceive work. A conducive work environment encourages employees to come to work, inspiring and sustaining them throughout the day (Nombeko, 2019). Business leaders need to be sufficiently involved with employees to create a positive workplace experience for attracting and retaining employees. Employees' intention to stay on a job is positively associated with their perception of the organizations' values. Employers who respect their

employees' personal needs have a high retention rate (Nombeko, 2019). Hotel managers should help employees achieve their personal needs to improve retention.

According to Qazi et al. (2015), employees are not machines but social beings with expectations, emotional, and physical needs. The social and family characteristics are those factors that affect work-family balance. Employees that feel supported by their organizations tend to be more productive and display positive attitudes towards work and colleagues (Mayende & Musenze, 2018). The organizational environment regarding policies, practices, and rewards can affect an employee's decision to stay on the job (Do, 2018). Positive organizational policies motivate employees and increase the chances of retention.

Impact of Managers on Work Environment

The competitiveness and performance of hotels depend on managers' capability to stimulate innovation within their firms (Hassi, 2019). Managers have a significant influence and control over the operations of the organization. Employee involvement is a substantial aspect of organizational structure to achieve positive perceptions from employees and increase retention. Employee participation and employee retention are interdependent because both result in either high or poor productivity (Khalid & Nawab, 2018). The most crucial aspect is the efficiency of the employees to achieve organizational goals. Employee efficiency involves analyzing the needs of the employees and keeping them motivated. Employees are essential resources for the growth of the organization. Managers are in a better positioned to assist their employees when they understand and concentrate on employee motives and expectations (Vroom, 1964).

Employee longevity in an organization has a positive effect on the stability of the economy over time. Employee turnover takes away the talents of the organization and hampers the smooth operation of the firm. The impact of the departure of a talented employee interrupts the usual activities and performance of the organization (Rubel & Hung Kee, 2015). Emotional exhaustion of hospitality workers can lead to low job satisfaction and high turnover (Rathi & Lee, 2016). Incivility among hospitality employees and customers can interrupt business operations and sales performance (Torres et al., 2016). The management approach that managers use in the hospitality industry significantly influences the level of employee engagement. By increasing employee engagement, hotel managers could improve employee retention.

Managers play a vital role in the success of an organization (Rafiee et al., 2015). Managers are obligated to create a conducive work context and impetus, inspiring workers to accomplish excellent outcomes and achieve organizational plans (Nombeko, 2019). Hospitality managers should continually improve their employees' working environment to achieve customer satisfaction, profitability, and customer loyalty. Improved relationships between managers and employees result in increased retention and yields enthusiastic employees who are focused on their work (Babakus et al., 2017). Researchers have advised managers to develop training programs that focus on improving employees' skills (Babakus et al., 2017). Managers are responsible for the establishment of a supportive team environment.

Transition and Summary

Section 1 included the foundation of the study, the background of the problem, problem statement, purpose statement, nature of the study, research question, conceptual framework, definition of terms, and assumptions, limitations and delimitations. Other topics discussed in Section 1 include the significance of the study, implications for social change, and a review of the professional and academic literature. The literature review contains narrations on the related and contrasting theories to Herzberg's two-factor theory, the hospitality industry, trends in the hospitality industry, and employee retention strategies. Finally, I discussed the concept and effects of job satisfaction, employee motivation and retention, and the impact of managers on the work environment.

Section 2 of this study contains an overview of the steps for conducting the research study. The focus areas include; purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection and organization, data analysis, and reliability and validity. In Section 3, I provided an overview of the study and presented the study findings. Other focus areas discussed in Section 3 include application to professional practice, implications to social change, recommendations for action and further study, reflections, and summary and study conclusions.

Section 2: The Project

In this section, I present a systematic discussion of the methodology used in this study. The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies that hotel managers use to retain employees. Section 2 includes the study's methodology, specifically, the research design and justification for the research design. I describe the participants, selection criteria, justification for the number of participants, and ethical protections of the participants. I also describe the data collection procedures, including interview and survey procedures, and my role as the researcher. The section concludes with a description of the data analysis technique, including coding and reliability and validity procedures to ensure the accuracy and credibility of the findings.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative single case study was to explore the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. The target population for this study consisted of hotel managers in one hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, who had successfully retained employees. The results of this study could lead to positive social change by assisting hotel managers with developing and implementing strategies necessary to retain employees. Employee wages may increase with better benefits such as health insurance, vacation packages, and overtime pay as the business grows and improves financially. Employees and their families could benefit from increased job stability, thereby improving employee retention and economic prosperity for the communities.

Role of the Researcher

The role of a qualitative researcher involves the collection and analysis of data (Yin, 2018). The researcher's role includes participants selection, data collection, data interpretation, data analysis, and facilitation. Qualitative researchers should have a comprehensive understanding of their roles in the data collection process (Shaban, 2015). My role as the qualitative researcher of the study involved recruiting participants for data collection and analyzing all data collected from hotel managers in Abuja, Nigeria. In addition, my role included collecting data in an unbiased manner and exploring the research problem. Qualitative researchers recognize their role in the data collection process by subjecting themselves to self-scrutiny (Moser & Korstjens, 2018).

A relationship between the researcher and the research area is critical in helping researchers gain familiarity with the study (Berger, 2015). The researcher's role is to respect participants' viewpoints, assure them of data confidentiality, and build a healthy rapport to enhance open communication and thoughts (Berger, 2015). Qualitative researchers tend to have sensitivity toward their social identities (C. Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I did not have any prior relationship with the participants.

I followed the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) requirements. Researchers must remain ethical when collecting data from participants (Morello-Frosch et al., 2015). I assured all participants in the study of the protection of their rights. Using an informed consent form, I explained the process and had each participant sign the form before beginning the interview process. The Belmont Report (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979) contains a description of the ethical principles and guidelines

for protecting human subjects. The principles in the *Belmont Report* include respect, beneficence, and justice. My role as a researcher was to treat participants with respect and protect their identity.

To remove bias when viewing the data through a personal lens, I remained open to contrary evidence. During the data collection phase, I mitigated bias by reviewing document sources and applying member checking to ensure accurate interpretations. Oikonomidoy and Wiest (2015) posited that researchers should alleviate biases and understand the research by not including personal viewpoints in the study. Yin (2018) advised researchers to mitigate personal assumptions that could affect the collection and analysis of data. It is crucial that researchers carefully plan each step of the study to mitigate biases (Althubaiti, 2016). As the researcher of the study, I recruited participants with whom I had no personal connections, relationships, or professional involvement. I avoided indulging personal assumptions but instead focused on participants' perspectives during the collection and analysis of data.

Interviews are guided conversation that require communication and social interaction skills (Nilson, 2017). Qualitative researchers use an interview protocol as a guide to outline the structure of the interview to ensure a consistent data collection process (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Also, the use of an interview protocol ensures that researchers do not miss valuable data during the data collection phase (Drabble et al., 2015). I used an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to outline the interview structure and ensure consistency with the data collection. I also conducted member checking with

participants through follow-up discussions to ascertain the accuracy of my interpretation of their interview responses.

Participants

I selected three hotel managers in one hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, who had successfully implemented employee retention strategies. An appropriate choice of study participants and an acceptable sample size are the foundation for building reliable research (Berger, 2015). When researchers use a single case study approach, they should include knowledgeable participants with experience applicable to the research topic (Cloutier & Felusiak, 2015). In the study there were no criteria for ethnicity and gender requirements; individuals from all ethnic groups were eligible to participate in the study. The success of a study depends on gaining access to participants who meet the eligibility criteria (Yin, 2018).

I used purposive sampling technique to identify and select participants from the target population. Researchers use purposeful sampling to identify and select qualitative research participants (Palinkas et al., 2015). Participants might be helpful when they are familiar with the study topic and can guide and facilitate an in-depth understanding of the research phenomenon. Knowledgeable participants help broaden the researcher's understanding of employee retention strategies (Cairney & St. Denny, 2015). Qualitative researchers may find single or various data sources valuable when conducting research (Kmita, 2017). I used emails and telephone calls to gain access to the participants.

Researchers might use an interview protocol to eliminate bias and to increase their chances of obtaining valuable data. I built a relationship of trust through introductory

telephone calls with participants before conducting semistructured interviews. I conducted semistructured interviews in the same setting. I used emails as the initial method of contacting the participants. I did not have an existing relationship with any of the managers who had implemented successful employee retention strategies. I am not an employee of the host organization. The initial contact is a researcher's first opportunity to build a working relationship with the participants (White & Hind, 2015). Researchers can use email, in-person, or telephone techniques to assess participants eligibility criteria (Canales & Caldart, 2017). I used emails and telephone calls to assess participants eligibility.

After receiving approval from Walden University's IRB (01-28-21-0970515), I sent an email to the participants. Attached to the email were the informed consent form and the interview protocol (see Appendix A) containing samples of the interview questions. After receiving the participants' responses, I established a working relationship with them by communicating with them and keeping them updated regarding the development of the study. A researcher's relationship with the participants is critical to the success of a study (C. Marshall & Rossman, 2016). During the study, I assured the participants of their confidentiality. Participants could withdraw from a study at any time (White & Hind, 2015). Data and information referring to the participants' identities were kept confidential.

Research Method and Design

For this qualitative study, I used a single case study design. The qualitative method was the most appropriate approach for the study because I explored the strategies

that some hotel managers use to improve employee retention. The purpose of a single case study design is to explore the presumed causal links in real-world interventions that are too complex for survey or experimental methods (Yin, 2018). A single case study design was the most suitable research design for the study.

Method

I used a qualitative method for this study. Researchers use quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods to conduct research (Zoellner & Harris, 2017).

Researchers use qualitative methods to gain greater insight and understanding into a research phenomenon (Hammarberg et al., 2016). A researcher identifies trends and patterns using a qualitative method (Albers, 2017). The qualitative method is a data collection process that generates non-numerical data, which depends on the interaction between data collection and data analysis (Saunders et al., 2015). The qualitative method was appropriate for the study because I explored the problem through the experiences of others. Moreover, qualitative studies address what happened or the meaning of a given phenomenon.

The quantitative method is the systematic empirical investigation that uses statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques (Baillie, 2015). The quantitative method was not appropriate for the study because its purpose was not to examine variables' characteristics or relationships. The mixed methods approach is a research procedure that involves collecting, analyzing, and integrating quantitative and qualitative research in a single study to enrich the general findings of the study (Bester et al., 2017). The mixed methods approach was not appropriate for the study because my intent was

not to collect and analyze empirical data by examining variables' characteristics or relationships. Quantitative and mixed methods were not appropriate for the study because I aimed to explore the strategies that some hotel managers use to improve employee retention.

Research Design

Qualitative researchers may use case study, phenomenological, narrative, or ethnographic designs (Castleberry & Nolen, 2018). I used a single case study design for the study. Yin (2018) indicated that researchers use a case study design to explore the phenomenon and individuals over time. Using the case study design, I explored the employee retention strategies managers use in the hospitality industry.

Phenomenological design is the process of identifying the personal meanings of individuals' lived experiences with an in-depth description of the meanings (Korcuska & Flynn, 2018). The phenomenological design was not appropriate for the study because its purpose was not to explore the personal meanings of employees' lived experiences in the hospitality industry. Researchers use ethnographic design to investigate the cultural phenomenon of a specific group or groups of people (Canevacci & Simeone, 2017; Higginbottom et al., 2016). The ethnographic design was not appropriate for the study because my intent was not to focus on employees' beliefs and shared patterns in the hospitality industry. A qualitative case study is an intensive, holistic description and analysis of a single entity or phenomenon using multiple data sources (Yin, 2018). A multiple case study is likely to produce more evidence and replicate and predict similar results (Saunders et al., 2015).

Data saturation is the point when the data analysis yields no new information. Researchers should consider data saturation as redundancy, which signals the end of the data collection process (Yin, 2018). I ensured data saturation by ensuring that further data collection yielded the same findings and confirmed or supported the emerging themes. To achieve this study's purpose, I collected adequate data and reported when, how, and to what extent data saturation was achieved.

Population and Sampling

This study's population consisted of three hotel managers working at one hotel located in Abuja, Nigeria. The population and sampling method should align with the study's intent, the research problem, and the research methodology (Argerich & Cruz-Cruz-Cázares, 2017). Wessels and Visagie (2017) suggested establishing the criteria for participants. I selected participants for this study using the following criteria: (a) has worked as a hotel manager in a reputable hotel in Nigeria for 5 years or more, (b) has held responsibilities associated with employee retention, and (c) has participated in the development and implementation of successful employee retention strategies. I confirmed the eligibility of the participants through an email or a signed consent form.

Sampling techniques that qualitative researchers use include purposive sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling (Griffith et al., 2016). Qualitative researchers use sampling to obtain vital information to understand the phenomenon (Boge & Salaj, 2017). A qualitative researcher may purposively select a relatively small sample to increase the understanding of the phenomenon under study (Morris et al., 2016). I selected participants through purposive sampling. Purposive sampling is a non-

probability sampling method that researchers use to ensure adequate representation of minority populations in the sample (Setia, 2016). Researchers who use purposive sampling construct a detailed analysis of the phenomenon (Roy et al., 2015). Researchers may consider the participants' experience when selecting a sample size for qualitative research. A researcher undertakes purposive sampling to match the cases to the research objectives (Roy et al., 2015). Purposive sampling enables a researcher to improve rigor and trustworthiness, including credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Bagheri et al., 2019). Purposive sampling was the most appropriate sampling technique for this study because it met the criterion required in selecting hotel managers who have successfully retained employees.

Random sampling was not applicable in this study because it may have resulted in a participant not meeting the selection criteria. The sample size consisted of three hotel managers in Abuja, Nigeria. The use of a small sample size is considered appropriate in qualitative studies (Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers may recruit additional participants to meet the goals of data saturation through snowball sampling. Snowball sampling is a process the researcher uses to recruit additional participants (Fehr et al., 2016). I interviewed the participants until there was no new information. When the researcher does not receive new information, the data collection process can end (Oberoi et al., 2015).

Reaching data saturation is a required component in qualitative research.

Researchers attain data saturation by gathering data until no new information or themes are emerging (Colombo et al., 2016). Researchers may enhance qualitative research

study's reliability and validity by attaining data saturation (Morse, 2015). One of the qualitative researchers' goal is to achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation can be achieved by collecting data from numerous sources (Harvey, 2015). In this study, I continued to interview the participants until there was no new information.

Ethical Research

I used the guidelines of the Belmont Report to protect the participants. The Belmont Report (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979) contains a description of the ethical principles and guidelines for protecting human subjects. The principles in the *Belmont Report* includes respect, beneficence, and justice. As a researcher, my role was to treat participants with respect and protect the participant's identity.

Qualitative researchers use an informed consent form as an ethical research guide (Sanderson et al., 2016). Ethical issues may occur when a research study includes human participants (Madikizela-Madiya, 2017). The use of ethical guidelines in a research study ensures the credibility of the study (Yin, 2018). For this study, I used an informed consent form, which consisted of the study's background, policies, procedures, benefits, risks, monetary incentives, and data privacy. Providing participants with informed consent helps to ensure the privacy of participants (Hammersley, 2015). The ethical concern in research includes validation, which entails disclosing the aspects of the study to the participants (Gaus, 2017). To comply with the ethical standards, I asked each potential participant to read, understand, and respond to the informed consent form before commencing the interview.

Before I engaged with the participants, I obtained permission from Walden University's IRB. Upon receiving IRB's approval, I sent each research participant an informed consent form via email, which specified the expected actions during this study. I undertook the NIH/CITI training on ethical standards to understand the ethical principles.

The participants may voluntarily participate in this study and withdraw at any time before the commencement of the data analysis phase. Participants' withdrawal principles refer to the respectful treatment of qualitative research participants (Doyle & Buckley, 2017). The participant can decide to withdraw from the study by informing the researcher through a telephone call or email without stating any reason. Researchers may use incentives to motivate participants to provide quality information (Smaglik, 2016). Providing participants with incentives may help researchers acquire enough subjects to increase the research findings consistency and validity (Berger, 2015). Although providing incentives could help influence data saturation, I did not provide participants with any form of incentives or stipends for participating in the study.

An ethical procedure is a tool that researchers use to protect participants in a research study. The ethical procedure is significant to control any form of risk associated with engaging the participants (Sturm, 2017). As the researcher, I obtained a verbal approval of the informed consent form and authorization to record the participants before each interview.

For data security purposes, I provided an agreement stipulating that all data would be kept safe for the participants and the researcher to sign. I stored all electronic data in my Apple iCloud account and hard copies in a personal locked safe for at least five years. I will destroy the data linked with the doctoral study at the end of the data storage period. Researchers are accountable for (a) informing research participants about the consequences of their participation, (b) protecting the participants' confidentiality, and (c) protecting participants from mischief (Kim, 2017). To protect the participants' confidentiality, I used codes such as P1, P2, and P3 for all participants' identities in the organization. I assured all the participants that their identities and information would be kept confidential.

Data Collection

In the single case qualitative study, the data collection process aimed to explore the strategies hotel managers use to retain employees in the hospitality industry in Abuja, Nigeria. The data collection process enabled me to examine the lived experiences of three hotel managers as they retain employees in their organization. In the following section, I discuss the data collection instruments, data collection and organization techniques.

Instruments

In this study, I was the primary data collection instrument. The researcher is the primary data collection instrument because a researcher hears, sees, and interprets the data in a qualitative study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Sutton & Austin, 2015). I used individual semistructured interviews as a data collection tool for this study. I created the interview questions (see Appendix B) to ensure alignment between the research question, the problem statement, and the purpose statement. I sent the interview questions by email

in a word document format to allow the participants to be familiar with the questions in advance and prove that the interview's intent was for educational purposes.

I spoke to each participant by telephone to clarify specific answers to the questions and obtain information on the strategy's hotel managers use to retain employees. Semistructured interview questions help researchers adhere to a set of questions received from the case study protocol (Yin, 2018). The purpose of interviewing is to reveal and explore complex and concealed phenomena (Cairney & St. Denny, 2015). I used the interview questions to explore the strategies that hotel managers use to retain employees in the hospitality industry.

To reduce bias and enhance reliability in the study, I use methodological triangulation of multiple data sources and member checking. Methodological triangulation can help a researcher enhance the validity of the data collection process by confirming the findings (Spadafino et al., 2016). In addition to the semistructured interviews (see Appendix B), I obtained archival company documents such as the employee handbook and company retention policies. I examined the documents and used member checking to verify the accuracy of the information collected from hotel managers in Abuja, Nigeria. According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), member checking is a quality control process that enhances the accuracy and credibility of the collected data by allowing the participants to verify the researcher's interpretation.

Data Collection Technique

The data collection technique I choose for this study was a semistructured interview. Semistructured interviews allow a researcher to ask open-ended questions

(Moonaghi et al., 2015). Initial contact with participants occurred after the IRB approval. The advantage of semistructured interviews is the researcher's ability to gain an in-depth understanding of the participants' views, which allows for flexibility in follow-up questions (Bryman & Bell, 2015). Pilot testing did not apply to this study. I used indepth, semistructured questionnaire interviews as the process to collect primary data in this study. I used open-ended interview questions to gather hotel managers' experiences in implementing employee retention strategies. Using open-ended interview questions allowed me to probe participants' experiences as I document and describe the participants' responses to ensure credibility, transferability, and confirmability. I used the interview protocol (see Appendix A) for this study. It is the researchers' responsibility to follow the interview protocol and ask questions without any bias (Yin, 2018).

The interview questions that I used helped me explore the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention. A semistructured interview is the best choice when the questions provide participants with an understanding of the research concepts (Yin, 2018). The advantages of the semistructured interview technique include (a) the ability to maintain focus on the participants and prolong questions, (b) capture the paralinguistic behaviors of the participants, and (c) accurate screening (McIntosh & Morse, 2015). The disadvantages of semistructured interview technique include (a) time consuming in conducting interviews, (b) cost involved to complete the data collection process, and (c) lessen the accuracy and completeness of the participants' interview responses due to the limited flexibility of interview questions.

Member checking allows for increased validity of data by returning to the participants to obtain their feedback on the initial interview interpretation (Harvey, 2015). When researchers delay too long between data collection, data interpretation, and member checking, it could lead to participants forgetting details regarding the interviews, which may compromise the verification of the interpretation of their responses (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). A researcher may use member checking to enhance the validity of the study (Yin, 2018). A review of the participants' responses to the interview questions and company documents could increase the trustworthiness of the finalized analysis and conclusions (Yin, 2018). I asked each participant to verify that I have accurately interpreted their responses.

Data Organization Techniques

I collected and filed all data in folders on my computer to ensure no loss of data collected. It is essential to maintain all the recorded interviews and backup copies of the recorded interviews as part of the data storage process (Cairney & St. Denny, 2015). Researchers must document the steps of the processes for reliability when conducting case studies (Yin, 2018), including eliminating transcript mistakes and minimizing coding errors. I created a folder labeled Employee Retention Study and subfolders for P1 through P3. I updated the research spreadsheet Excel as I collect data. I stored the data in two different locations: the iCloud and flash drive as back up in the event of data loss. I will store the data for 5 years before destroying them.

Data Analysis Technique

Qualitative researchers commonly use methodological triangulation in a case study by examining multiple data sources (Yin, 2018). Morse and Coulehan (2015) stated that a qualitative researcher encompasses ongoing data collection and analysis simultaneously. The four types of triangulation are data, investigator, theory, and methodological triangulation. In this qualitative study, I used methodological triangulation that includes data from the interviews and supporting data from internal company documents. The use of methodological triangulation will increase the credibility of a case study (Yin, 2018). I used methodological triangulation by conducting semistructured interviews with hotel managers and viewed documents regarding existing retention policies and strategies.

In qualitative research, the data analysis phase is critical (Potestio et al., 2015). I completed an analysis of the data using Excel to create a coding process. The design enhances the process of alignment of qualitative data by creating patterns and themes from complex data (Zheng et al., 2015). I analyzed the data from the semistructured interviews for common themes. The researcher compares responses to make comparisons in emerged themes with each interview (Zheng et al., 2015). I analyzed the data using the five steps outlined by Yin (2018): to collect data, group data, regroup data based on themes, evaluate the information, and recognize emergent themes.

Researchers could select at least two cases when seeking to understand and compare situations. Exploring more than two cases will produce even richer results (Yin, 2018). Oberoi et al. (2015) posited that data saturation could signal the researcher that

there is no need for conducting more research. The themes discovered in the study helped me to answer the research question. To verify the interpretations of the collected data, researchers should use member checking during the data analysis phase (Oberoi et al., 2015; Senden et al., 2015).

I utilized the voice web application in transcribing the data for each participant's interview. I then transferred the transcribed data into the NVivo Version 11 software. I examined the transcript and notes from each interview. Next, I read each interview transcript to identify any emerging themes. The conceptual framework for this study was Herzberg's two-factor theory. Finally, I compared the emerging themes from the data analysis with the conceptual framework and published studies.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are traditional measures of quality in qualitative research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Reliability is crucial in determining the stability and quality of the collected data (Pocock, 2015). A qualitative researcher uses various strategies to achieve reliability and validity (Acaster et al., 2015). In this subsection, I discuss the approaches to ensuring the reliability and validity of the study findings.

Reliability

Qualitative researchers ensure reliability by documenting the steps of the research process (Singh, 2016). Reliability is the stability of study results (Mohajan, 2017). To ensure reliability, I documented the data collection process to enable other researchers to duplicate the case study process and achieve similar findings. I was consistent in the data collection process to minimize bias or any data processing errors. I ensured that interview

questions were consistent with each participant and relevant to the research question. The use of the interview protocol assures reliability (Yin, 2018). Establishing and implementing reliability methods is necessary within the research study to authenticate the results as being valid and trustworthy (Yin, 2018). To enhance this study's reliability, I used the interview protocol to ensure consistency in the interview process. I conducted member checking to verify the accuracy of data collected from participants.

Dependability. When another researcher can duplicate a previous study's audit trail, dependability will occur (Connelly, 2016). Hazavehei et al. (2015) posited that member checking involves conducting initial interviews, interpreting what the participants shared, and sharing the interpretation with the participant for validation. I used member checking to enhance the dependability of the study.

A case study protocol allows a researcher to be focused and direct (Yin, 2018). The case study protocol ensures dependability by providing a clear roadmap of the study that future researchers can follow (Noble & Smith, 2015). Methodological triangulation enhances the dependability of the findings (Archibald, 2015; Harvey, 2015). I transcribed all notes in an acceptable and practicable manner to ensure the reliability of the outcome. Using open-ended questions allowed the participants to respond effectively in detail. I used open-ended questions to elucidate information regarding their retention strategies from hotel managers.

Validity

The primary purpose of qualitative inquiry is to minimize researcher bias, bringing out important information that enhances the design concept (Cairney & St.

Denny, 2015). Member checking allows each participant to correct any errors, volunteer any additional information to the study, and confirm the researcher's interpretations (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). I used member checking to verify my interpretations of the data collected from each participant. The use of methodological triangulation will increase the trustworthiness and credibility of a case study (Yin, 2018). I used methodological triangulation by combining interviews, archival document collection, and reviews of data

Credibility. Credibility is built on trust when there is an understanding between people (Aldrich et al., 2015). Credibility occurs when the participants believe the findings of a study (Roy et al., 2015). Interviews or member checking are methods researchers use to enhance credibility. Researchers conducting case studies have the responsibility to decrease misunderstanding and misrepresentation (Yin, 2018). Demonstrating qualitative credibility ensures the audience that one is addressing the findings from the participants' perspective (Leighton, 2016). I used member checking to enhance the credibility of the study.

Transferability. Transferability is the consistency of outlined procedures for use in another population or setting in future research (Noble & Smith, 2015; Tran, 2016). The transferability of a review relies on the reader's reasonable judgments (Thelwell et al., 2016). To ensure transferability, I carefully documented each step throughout the entire research and data collection process. Researchers use transferability in their study to ensure transparency for future research (Thelwell et al., 2016). The interview protocol outlines a script and the interview questions for each participant. I adhered to the

interview protocol and provided thick descriptions of the research process for readers to confirm the transferability of the study findings.

Confirmability. Confirmability is the degree to which the study results are the true reflection of the participants' responses instead of the researcher's perception (Noble & Smith, 2015). To enhance confirmability, I audited all the steps followed during the study. For this study, I used NVivo software to audit the steps in the data collection process. Future researchers can replicate the study using the NVivo software. Researchers should ensure that the participants confirm their responses to the interview questions, aligning with the conceptual framework and literature to increase the study's confirmability (Harvey, 2015). I provided an in-depth analysis of the findings to achieve confirmability and transparency.

Data saturation. Data saturation occurs when the study participants do not offer new themes (Yin, 2018). A researcher achieves data saturation when no new information is emerging from data collection and the availability of enough data to replicate the study (Murgatroyd et al., 2015). Repetitive responses offer the ability to replicate a study (Orri et al., 2015). Researchers can reach data saturation and gain a deeper understanding of a phenomenon when data overlap (Tran et al., 2017). Data saturation is essential in research to demonstrate the validity of the study. I continued to collect, analyze, and code the data from each interview until no new information emerged to reach data saturation.

Transition and Summary

In Section 2, I restated the purpose of the study, provided narratives on the role of the researcher, the research method and design, participants, population and sampling techniques, and ethical research guidelines. Other topics discussed in Section 2 include data collection instruments, data collection and organization techniques, data analysis technique, and the research study's reliability and validity. My role as a researcher includes sampling and data collection, organization, and analysis. In Section 3, I provided a summary of the findings, present the research findings, and discuss the application of findings to professional and implications for social change. Section 3 also contain discussions on recommendations for action and further study, reflections, and the summary and study conclusions.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change
In this section, I provide an overview of the study and present the strategies some
hotel managers use to improve employee retention in Abuja, Nigeria. I used examples
from the research participants to link the study findings to the conceptual framework of
Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation. Other topics I discussed in this section
include the applications to professional practice, implications for social change,
recommendations for action and future research, reflections, and summary and
conclusions.

Overview of Study

This qualitative single case study was conducted to explore the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. The conceptual framework was Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation. The overarching question was the following: What strategies do hotel managers use to improve employee retention? The participants included three hotel managers from one hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, who had successfully implemented strategies to improve employee retention. The participants provided me with primary and secondary data to answer the overarching research question. The primary data source was the participants' responses to the semistructured interview questions. In contrast, secondary data sources included archival documents, field notes, and observations. I achieved data saturation when no additional information emerged from the interview process and document review. Based on the participants' responses to the interview questions, I identified four themes: (a) work conditions and employee welfare, (b) remuneration and compensation, (c) training and career development, and (d)

reward and recognition. By relating Herzberg's two-factor theory to the findings, I developed a better understanding of the strategies some hotel managers use to retain employees in Abuja, Nigeria. The study findings indicated that some hotel managers use a combination of strategies to improve employee retention in Abuja, Nigeria.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching question was the following: What strategies do hotel managers use to improve employee retention? To remain more competitive, business organizations need to attract the best talents and retain them on the job for a long time (Kossivi et al., 2016). Business leaders should make employee retention a priority to increase productivity and gain a competitive advantage in business (Rakhra, 2018). A business could profit from retaining employees rather than making a new hire because of the costs associated with recruiting, selecting, and training new employees (Mwasaru & Kazungu, 2015). Using the triangulation method, I combined the data collected from many sources, including interviews, observation of participants, and archival company documents such as management reports, training records, and recognition programs.

Organizations need to attract and retain the best talents on the job for the long term to increase productivity and save on replacement costs (Kossivi et al., 2016).

Managers should develop a communication and motivation strategy to retain employees and consider the benefits offered to employees (Carlino, 2017). Some retention strategies that business leaders use include career development, improved benefits, a healthy work environment, and work-life balance (Ohunakin et al., 2018). Organizations with high employee turnover face challenges such as administrative costs, training, and recruitment

costs (Pohler & Schmidt, 2015). The four themes I identified in this study are (a) work conditions and employee welfare, (b) remuneration and compensation, (c) training and career development, and (d) reward and recognition. In the following subsections, I present the four themes that emerged from the thematic analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions and archival document review (see Table 1).

Table 1Strategies Participants Adapted to Improve Employee Retention in the Hospitality Industry (N = 3)

Strategies	Percentage of use by participants
Work conditions and employee welfare	100%
Remuneration and compensation	100%
Training and career development	100%
Reward and recognition	100%

Theme 1: Work Conditions and Employee Welfare

A conducive work environment encourages employees to come to work, inspiring and sustaining them throughout the day (Nombeko, 2019). The first theme to emerge was work conditions and employee welfare, which involved creating a conducive environment to improve employee retention. The theme of work conditions and employee welfare emerged from interview questions 1-5, 7, and 8. All participants affirmed using work conditions and employee welfare to improve employee retention in Nigeria's hospitality industry.

Employers who respect their employees' personal needs have a high retention rate (Nombeko, 2019). The current study participants agreed that good work conditions and employee welfare are critical to improving employee retention in the hospitality industry. All participants acknowledged the importance of adopting strategies that offer employees excellent work conditions and welfare. Responding to interview question 1, participant P1 said "we improve the work conditions of employees such as good transport service ... we provide improved employee welfare." In response to interview question 1, P2 stated "we provide additional attractions like better housing arrangement; transportation; and medical facilities for self, spouse, and a limited number of children." Responding to a follow-up question, P2 explained, "working conditions such as the number of hours per shift, payment for extra duty hours if and when required, and good atmospheric working environment." Responding to interview question 1, P3 remarked "the organization employ strategies like payment of service charge, part of house rent, medical bills. ... we try to provide a conducive work environment for the employees."

Responding to interview question 2, P1 explained "a revenue decline which could be as a result of low patronage, government policies or global economic challenges which may affect the organization in meeting up with the staff welfare." In response to interview question 3, P1 posited "management makes staff understand the challenges at hand while trying to meet their welfare with the available resource. Our hotel continues to make staff welfare a cardinal part of our strategy for staff retention." Responding to interview question 3, P3 asserted "an increased revenue means a better allowance for employees. The hotel management reviews existing policies that have to do with the

welfare of the employees." According to P3 "we also offer work flexibility by balancing employee workload and provide other perks and privileges." In response to interview question 4, P3 affirmed "we identify and take up overwhelming expenses as staff welfare. We constantly update the employee's benefits." All participants recognized the significance of ensuring good work conditions and welfare to improve employee retention.

In response to interview question 5, P1 opined "employees are satisfied with the provision of a conducive work environment, ... always keep improving their welfare." Responding to interview question 5, P2 commented "the employees are satisfied with a good working condition/environment." In response to interview question 5, P3 affirmed "for us, it is good work-life balance, job security, making the staff feel as part of the organization." Responding to interview question 7, P1 noted "because employees are motivated, the environment is more peaceful, friendly, and result-oriented. This helps to improve work conditions." In response to interview question 7, P2 posited "employee work conditions are improved with better relationships amongst subordinates and superiors." Responding to interview question 7, P3 asserted "as the management is taking care of the employee's needs, it strengthens their loyalty to work, thereby improving productivity."

In response to interview question 8, P1 opined "the hotel ensures that all mandatory government-approved social welfare packages established for employees are applied especially as it relates to pension, gratuity, workmen's compensation, and any other compensation." Responding to interview question 8, P2 commented "we also

educate the employees about some of the government benefits they are entitled to such as the pension scheme, the gratuity, and other benefits." In response to interview question 8, P3 affirmed "we try as much as possible to maintain a safe and clean environment for our employees and our guests." The study findings demonstrated that hotel managers used work conditions and employee welfare as a strategy to improve employee retention. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants attested using good work condition and employee welfare as a strategy to improve employee retention.

Theme 2: Remuneration and Compensation

High compensation and fair performance appraisal systems are essential HRM practices associated with employee turnover intention (Dechawatanapaisal, 2018; Shaukat et al., 2017). Employees will envision the hospitality and tourism industry as a career if they are receiving career-style wages, have the potential for future growth, and collect fair compensation for their hard work (Murray et al., 2017). An essential organizational factor that could increase job satisfaction is compensation (McPhail et al., 2015). The theme remuneration and compensation emerged from interview questions 1-5 and 7. During the interview, all participants attested to using remuneration and compensation as a strategy to improve employee retention.

A positive relationship exists between human resources, skills, and the performance of economic activities (Metilelu, 2016). In response to interview question 1, P1 opined "good working condition such as regular payment of salaries, timely salary payment, and annual salary increments." Responding to interview question 1, P2 assured "we ensure that our remunerations are in the range of our competitors." In response to

interview question 1, P3 affirmed "the organization employ strategies like commissions." Responding to interview question 2, P1 noted "salary dissatisfaction as most employees have high salary expectations, implementation strategies become a problem. So, we have to weigh the effect of implementing the strategies and the employee demand for salary increase." In response to interview question 2, P3 posited "there is this general conception of inequality in disbursing remuneration. Therefore, it affects junior staff loyalty." Continuing, P3 explained "the junior staff feel they are not well compensated. The junior staff complain a lot about the remuneration gap between them and the senior staff." In response to interview question 3, P3 stated "the management try as much as possible to be discrete about the remuneration of employees."

Responding to interview question 4, P3 asserted "we constantly update employee's compensation packages." In response to interview question 5, P1 confirmed "employees are satisfied when they have fair wages and timely payment." Responding to interview question 5, P2 commented "the employees are satisfied with a good and regular payment of wages on a timely basis and salary increment." In response to interview question 5, P3 affirmed "for us, it is offering an attractive fixed salary." Responding to interview question 7, P2 said "some employees want more extra hour shifts, so that they can enjoy the overtime pay." The study findings demonstrated that hotel managers used remuneration and compensation as a strategy to improve employee retention. As indicated in the data, 100% of the participants attested to using remuneration and compensation as a strategy to improve retention.

Theme 3: Training and Career Development

The impact of human resources quality in the tourism industry has always been a fundamental characteristic of the service-driven sector (Dechawatanapaisal, 2018). Employees have several skills and knowledge, which can be inactive without motivation (Enkhbayar & Bixiang, 2018). The third theme, training and career development, emerged from Interview Questions 1 - 5 and 7. All participants acknowledged the importance of training and career development in improving employee retention. The company archival documents relating to the training records that the participants provided validated their statements.

Training and career prospects are critical organizational factors that could increase job satisfaction (McPhail et al., 2015). Responding to interview question 1, P1 said "we provide training. We research the trending things that can keep employees going at their best." In response to interview question 1, P2 stated "the organization encourages on the job training, self-career improvement that empowers employees for horizontal and vertical movement." Responding to interview question 1, P3 remarked "we provide career pathway and employees development. The organization employ strategies such as continuous training and certification and part payment of school fees." A review of the company training records indicated that all participants use training to improve employee retention.

Researchers have advised managers to develop training programs that focus on improving employees' skills (Babakus et al., 2017). Responding to interview question 2, P2 noted "the major challenges encountered are increasing cost of operation. The

implementation of the strategies can be very expensive. For example, the trainings are usually contracted out to consultants, and they are expensive." In response to interview question 3, P2 posited "the hotel ensures that all trainings are job-related, for specified roles; this guarantees the quality of performance as well." Responding to interview question 4, P2 asserted "we try to educate the employees on the benefits of the applied strategies." In response to interview question 4, P3 affirmed "we ensure to hire the right employees and shape their growth and development." All participants affirmed that training and career development is a valuable strategy for improving employee retention.

In response to interview question 5, P1 opined "the employees show satisfaction when there are regular staff training and development." Responding to interview question 5, P2 commented "making the staff feel like part of the organization through career development." In response to interview question 7, P1 affirmed "the employees share ideas and learn from each other, especially those staff members that have been with the organization for a very long period. The older staff members share beneficial ideas with new employees." Responding to interview question 7, P2 noted "the staff members learn from each other and display a high sense of cooperation within themselves." The participants' responses to the interview question aligned with Babakus et al.'s (2017), Enkhbayar and Bixiang's (2018), and McPhail et al.'s (2015) statements that business managers used training and career development to improve employee retention. The study findings demonstrated that hotel managers used training and career retention to improve employee retention. According to the data, 100% of the participants attested to using training and career development as a strategy to improve employee retention.

Theme 4: Reward and Recognition

To keep employee's satisfaction high, organizations need to implement respect, recognition, and rewards (Kossivi et al., 2016). The theme reward and recognition emerged from interview questions 1, 3, 5, 7, and 8. All participants acknowledged using reward and recognition as a strategy for improving employee retention. Responding to interview question 1, P1 said "we use the strategy of motivation and reward for hard work, promotion." In response to interview question 1, P2 stated "the organization encourages extra reward/recognition for hard-working employees." Responding to interview question 1, P3 remarked "we provide ample employee recognition and rewards. The hotel recognizes the loyalty of employees and rewards their loyalty."

The organizational environment regarding policies, practices, and rewards can affect an employee's decision to stay on the job (Do, 2018). Responding to interview question 3, P3 noted "the management try as much as possible to be discrete about the remuneration of employees but make loyalty rewards public." In response to interview question 5, P1 posited "making the employee see themselves as key stakeholders in the organization; encouraging them always to make suggestions to improve the establishment, and promotion of employees where and when necessary." Responding to interview question 5, P2 asserted "the provision of job security and assurance of growth. Making the staff feel like part of the organization and always keep improving their welfare, such as promotion." In response to interview question 5, P3 affirmed "an employee feels some sense of satisfaction when their skills are recognized. For us, it is

showing appreciation for a job well done." All participants affirmed using reward and recognition as a strategy to improve employee retention.

In response to interview question 7, P2 opined "the employees are happy when they are promoted or awarded some recognition, which increases their customer service positive responses." Responding to interview question 8, P1 noted "the organization consistently reward loyalty, outstanding performance and long service." The participants' responses to the interview question aligned with Do's (2018) and Kossivi et al.'s (2016) statements that business managers use reward and recognition to improve employee retention. The study findings demonstrated that hotel managers used reward and recognition as a strategy to improve employee retention. According to the data, 100% of the participants attested to using reward and recognition as a strategy to improve employee retention.

Findings Related to Herzberg's Two-Factor Theory

The Herzberg et. al., (1959) two-factor theory was the conceptual framework for this study. Herzberg et al. (1959) was considered a leading pioneer in motivation theory because of the two-factor theory regarding the emergence of two qualitatively different sets of factors: motivation and hygiene factors. The motivation and hygiene factors led managers to consider two different job characteristics (Sanjeev & Surya, 2016). The motivation and hygiene factors within an organization regulate job satisfaction and dissatisfaction, which influences employee retention. The study findings indicate that hotel managers could improve employee retention by implementing strategies based on Herzberg two-factor theory. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants affirmed

using a combination of strategies to improve employee retention. As applied in this study, all participants applied the Herzberg two-factor theory regarding using a blend of strategies to improve employee retention.

Motivators and hygiene factors are two separate dimensions that affect different aspects of job satisfaction (Jaworski et al., 2018). Managers should devise a way to engage employees to commit the full range of their efforts and abilities to contribute to the organization (Book et al., 2019). According to McPhail et al. (2015), factors of internal locus of control, variety in the job duties, and potential for advancement in a career contributed to the intention to stay in the hospitality industry. Herzberg two-factor theory focuses on helping business leaders address employee retention by establishing motivation and hygiene factors in the organizational culture. As applied in this study, managers should establish strategies for improving employee retention. All participants confirmed the Herzberg two-factor theory regarding using good working condition and employee welfare as strategies for improving employee retention.

Herzberg's two-factor theory entailed two elements, intrinsic and extrinsic motivation, that affect employees' productivity because of their satisfaction (Damij et al., 2015). The motivation factors provide job satisfaction, while the hygiene factors provide job dissatisfaction (Sanjeev & Surya, 2016). The hygiene factors are indirectly related to the job, whereas the motivators are directly related to the task. An increase in hygiene factors will not motivate an employee but may reduce job dissatisfaction (Vijayakumar & Saxena, 2015). Business leaders could implement initiatives to promote job satisfaction for improved employee retention by understanding the motivation and hygiene factors.

As applied in this study, hotel managers should establish strategies for improving employee retention. Based on the themes that emerged from participants' responses, Herzberg's two-factor theory was helpful regarding the use of a combination of retention strategies to improve employee retention.

Holston-Okae and Mushi (2018) demonstrated that job satisfaction, compensation, employee engagement, and work environment are significant predictors of turnover intentions, while motivation is not. Hotel managers support Herzberg's two-factor theory when they improve the motivation and hygiene factors within the organization. As applied in this study, hotel managers used strategies involving work conditions and employee welfare, remuneration and compensation, training and career development, and reward and recognition to improve employee retention. All the participants' responses validated the application of Herzberg's two-factor theory to improve employee retention in Abuja, Nigeria.

Applications to Professional Practice

Identifying the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention is crucial to enhance business profitability and sustainability. A critical, challenging issue in the hospitality industry is employee turnover (Santhanam et al., 2017). The retention of key employees is critical to the long-term success of any organization (Mathimaran & Kumar, 2017). All participants affirmed using a combination of strategies to improve employee retention. The results of the study could help hotel managers to improve their employee retention. The study findings could significantly contribute to information sharing, collaboration, and teamwork among hotel managers seeking strategies to

improve employee retention. Some hotel managers with weak strategies may apply this study's findings to improve employee retention and enhance business profitability and sustainability.

The strategy to retain employees is a fundamental means of achieving a competitive advantage in the business environment (Mwasaru & Kazungu, 2015). All participants acknowledged that work conditions and employee welfare, remuneration and compensation, training and career development, and reward and recognition to improve employee retention were fundamental to improving employee performance. Based on the study findings, the most significant contribution to professional practice may be identifying potential strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. Hotel managers could use this study's results to improve employee retention and enhance their business sustainability. The study findings could provide hotel managers with a practical model for developing strategies for improving employee retention. The practical model could serve as a basis for improving employee retention in the hospitality industry.

Hotel managers face the challenge of attracting and retaining good employees (Murray, 2016). Researchers have demonstrated that high compensation and fair performance appraisal systems are essential HRM practices associated with employee turnover intention (Dechawatanapaisal, 2018; Shaukat et al., 2017). This study's findings could provide hotel managers with knowledge on how to engage the workforce effectively to improve employee retention. The findings from this study could significantly enhance corporate sustainability by implementing strategies to improve employee retention. The findings from this study could contribute to the literature on

employee retention strategies in the hospitality industry. New and upcoming hotel managers may use the study findings to understand the importance of implementing strategies and best practices to improve employee retention, thereby enhancing business sustainability.

Business leaders' capability to understand how to retain and motivate workers is critical to the success of an organization (Schuler, 2015). Business leaders should attract, develop, and retain the best employees in their organizations (Rose & Raja, 2016). Employee retention strategy is a fundamental means of achieving a competitive advantage in the business environment (Kossivi et al., 2016). The findings from this study could contribute to the literature on employee retention. The study findings might add value to the hospitality business community by disseminating information regarding strategies for improving employee retention and providing a competitive edge to individual companies. The study findings may help organizational leaders, including governmental and non-governmental agencies, small business owners, and entrepreneurs, to gain helpful information on strategies to improve employee retention and sustain their businesses

Implications for Social Change

The study findings may significantly contribute to providing hotel managers with strategies to improve employee retention. Employers may benefit from practical strategies that enhance employee retention (Sayer et al., 2016). By implementing excellent retention strategies, hotel managers could improve business profitability and sustainability in their organizations. As demonstrated in this study findings, adapting

exceptional strategies might help hotel managers improve employee retention, reducing the turnover rate and increase profitability, thereby generating economic growth for local communities. With improved employee and business performance, hotel managers will pay more corporate taxes, which local, state, and federal governments could use to provide social amenities to benefit the citizens. The result of the study could lead to improved employee economic conditions for communities' benefits.

Business organizations initiate positive social change projects into their business strategy to give back to society (Stephan et al., 2016). By improving employee retention, hotel leaders could sustain their businesses and fulfil their corporate social responsibilities to the residents by the sponsorship of local events, building of schools, libraries, healthcare facilities, and awarding scholarships. By growing and sustaining their business, hotel managers could contribute to positive social change by creating job opportunities, thereby improving the welfare of the local citizens. The general public might learn from the study findings the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention.

The study findings may contribute to positive social change by assisting hotel managers in understanding the strategies for improving employee retention and gaining adequate knowledge to establish a practical retention model. As illustrated in this study, improving employee retention might help hotel managers to sustain their firms and continue to boost the economy of the local community. Managers in the hospitality industry could utilize this study's findings to improve the workforce's capabilities by retaining employees. By applying the findings from this study, hotel managers might

improve their employee retention, promoting better welfare and wellbeing among the employees' families.

Recommendations for Action

An effective strategy is essential to improving employee retention. To remain more competitive, business organizations need to attract the best talents and retain them on the job for a long time (Kossivi et al., 2016). Managers should design a communication and motivation strategy to retain employees and consider the benefits offered to employees (Carlino, 2017). Manager's use of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation on employees is a foremost part of the organizational retention plan (Mangi et al., 2015). To sustain the hospitality industry, hotel managers should implement excellent strategies to improve employee retention. I recommend that hotel managers should implement a blend of strategies to improve employee retention.

To improve business profitability and sustainability, hotel managers should implement strategies to improve employee retention. Business organizations with high employee turnover face challenges such as administrative costs, training, and recruitment costs (Pohler & Schmidt, 2015). High employee turnover in the hotel industry results in reduced productivity (Haussman, 2016). Organizations need to attract and retain the best talents on the job for the long term to increase productivity and save on replacement costs (Kossivi et al., 2016). I recommend that hotel managers should adopt effective strategies to improve employee retention, thereby enhancing productivity to sustain their business.

Meeting employee needs is a valuable tool that managers use to improve employee retention. According to Nombeko (2019), employers who respect their

employees' personal needs have a high retention rate. Researchers have demonstrated the high compensation, and fair performance appraisal systems are the essential HRM practices associated with employee turnover intention (Dechawatanapaisal, 2018; Shaukat et al., 2017). The organizational environment regarding policies, practices, and rewards can affect an employee's decision to stay on the job (Do, 2018). I recommend that hotel managers should implement good work conditions and employee welfare, remuneration and compensation, training and career development, and reward and recognition as a blend of strategies to improve employee retention.

Some hotel managers lack strategies for improving employee retention. The study findings indicate that hotel managers use a combination of strategies to improve employee retention. I recommend that hotel managers have adequate education, experience, skills, and training to adopt appropriate strategies to improve employee retention. I will disseminate this study's result to interested stakeholders through presentations at seminars, training, conferences, publications in business and academic journals on employee management, and knowledge sharing in my place of employment, network, and social media.

Recommendations for Further Study

The qualitative single case study aimed to explore the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. The study findings provided rich information which future researchers could explore regarding the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention. A significant limitation of this study was the small sample size of three hotel managers from a hotel in Abuja, Nigeria. Researchers who use larger

or smaller sample size may obtain different themes. The use of a small sample size is considered appropriate in qualitative studies (Yin, 2018). Therefore, I recommend that future researchers consider using a larger size of participants from different management levels in diverse industrial sectors at different geographical locations.

This study was limited to a cross-sectional, qualitative single case study involving three hotel managers in a hotel in Abuja, Nigeria. Another limitation is the time restriction to meet and collect data from participants. The participants are from the same organization and might provide bias responses to the interview questions. The accuracy of the research findings in a qualitative study is limited to the research participants' the information (Woolard, 2015). Therefore, I recommend that further studies involve using longitudinal, quantitative or mixed methods to explore the phenomenon with participants selected from varying levels of management in different industrial sectors at various geographical locations.

I have limited competency and knowledge in doctoral research. According to Morsea et al. (2014), novice researchers face challenges of organizing participants' responses into themes to gain an in-depth understanding of the research problem. The study was limited to my subjective evaluation and accurate interpretation of the participants' responses to the interview questions. The study was also limited to my personal beliefs and professional experience regarding the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention. I recommend that future researchers should comprise of experts from related multi-disciplines in employee management to divulge some details I must have omitted in this doctoral study.

Reflections

In conducting this single case study, I explored the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. From the study findings, I gained an in-depth knowledge of the research problem from three hotel managers in a hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, regarding their use of different strategies to improve employee retention. I learnt that hotel managers use a similar blend of strategies involving good work conditions and employee welfare, remuneration and compensation, training and career development, and reward and recognition to improve employee retention. My new knowledge and understanding of the research problem positively changed my beliefs, preconceived ideas and values, and personal bias and perceptions about the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention.

In conducting this study, I used the purposive sampling technique to select three hotel managers from a hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, who have over 5 years of experience in employee management and had successfully used strategies to improve employee retention. Using the purposive sampling technique, I selected participants who had the relevant competence, experience, skills, and knowledge to answer the research question. During the purposive sampling process, my interactions with the participants enabled me to improve my collaborative, emotional intelligence, interpersonal, inspirational, negotiation, and networking skills.

Using the qualitative research method enabled me to conduct semistructured interviews and interact with the participants, which improved my networking, communication, critical thinking, emotional intelligence, ethical, listening, observant,

self-confidence, and problem-solving skills. Because I interviewed at participants' preferred time and location, the respondents expressed themselves freely, which allowed me to gain an in-depth knowledge of the research problem. During the data organization and analysis process, I understood the research problem, which enabled me to identify the themes and patterns and establish the study findings. Consequently, I gained a better understanding of the doctoral study research process, thereby improving my skills in conducting academic research work.

Summary and Conclusions

Hotel managers face challenges in using effective strategies to improve employee retention. This qualitative single case study aimed to use Herzberg two-factor theory to explore the strategies that hotel managers use to improve employee retention. I administered eight open-ended questions through semistructured interviews with three hotel managers from a hotel in Abuja, Nigeria, to collect the primary data to answer the research question. The sources of secondary data include company archival documents, observations, and field notes. The four themes that emerged from the thematic analysis of data were (a) work conditions and employee welfare, (b) remuneration and compensation, (c) training and career development, and (d) reward and recognition. The study findings indicated that hotel managers used a blend of strategies to improve employee retention.

Adapting strategies might help hotel managers improve employee retention, which may sustain the business, thereby generating economic growth for local communities. With improved employee retention, hotel managers will pay more

corporate taxes, which federal, state, and local governments could use to provide social amenities to the local citizens. Also, improving employee retention might help hotel managers sustain their firms and continue to provide job opportunities to the residents. The general public might learn from the study findings the strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention. Using Herzberg two-factor theory as a lens for this study involving strategies hotel managers use to improve employee retention may fill a gap in the literature on employee management. The study findings align with previous scholars' conclusions regarding the need to implement effective strategies to improve employee retention.

References

- Abomeh, O. S. (2012). Tourism and hospitality manpower and education in Nigeria. *Afro Asian Journal of Social Sciences*, *3*(3), 1-18. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/313308991
- Abouraia, M. K., & Othman, S. M. (2017). Transformational leadership, job satisfaction, organizational commitment, and turnover intentions: The direct effects among bank representatives. *American Journal of Industrial and Business Management*, 7(4), 404-423. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2017.74029
- Acaster, S., Dickerhoof, R., DeBusk, K., Bernard, K., Strauss, W., & Allen, L. (2015).

 Qualitative and quantitative validation of the FACIT-fatigue scale in iron deficiency anemia. *Health & Quality of Life Outcomes*, *13*(1), 1-10.

 https://doi.org/10.1186/s1295-015-0257-x
- Adeola, O., & Kennedy, E. (2016). The hospitality business in Nigeria: Issues, challenges and opportunities. *Worldwide Hospitality and Tourism Themes*, 8(2), 182-194. https://doi.org/10.1108/what-11-2015-0053
- Albers, M. J. (2017). Quantitative data analysis: In the graduate curriculum. *Journal of Technical Writing and Communication*, 47(2), 215-233. https://doi.org/10.1177/0047281617692067
- Alderfer, C. P. (1969). An empirical test of a new theory of human needs. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *4*, 142-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/00305073(69)90004-x

- Aldrich, P., Dietz, G., Clark, T., & Hamilton, P. (2015). Establishing HR professionals' influence and credibility: Lessons from the capital markets and investment banking sector. *Human Resource Management*, *54*(1), 105-130. https://doi.org/10.1002/hrm.21626
- Althubaiti, A. (2016). Information bias in health research: Definition, pitfalls, and adjustment methods. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, *9*, 211-217. https://doi.org/10.2147/jmdh.s104807
- Alverén, E., Andersson, T. D., Eriksson, K., Sandoff, M., & Wikhamn, W. (2012).

 Seasonal employees' intention to return and do more than expected. *Service Industries Journal*, *32*, 1957-1972.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069.2011.574280
- Anfara, V., & Mertz, N. (2015). *Theoretical frameworks in qualitative research*. SAGE Publications.
- Ann, S., & Blum, S. C. (2020). Motivating senior employees in the hospitality industry.

 *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 32(1), 324-346.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-08-2018-0685
- Anyim, C., Chidi, O., & Badejo, A. (2012). Motivation and employees' performance in the public and private sectors in Nigeria. *International Journal of Business**Administration, 3(1), 31-40. https://doi.org/10.5430/ijba.v3n1p31
- Archibald, M. M. (2015). Investigator triangulation a collaborative strategy with potential for mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *9*, 1-23. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689815570092

- Argerich, J., & Cruz-Cázares, C. (2017). Definition, sampling and results in business angels' research: Toward a consensus. *Management Decision*, *55*, 310-330. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-07-2016-0487
- Babakus, E., Yavas, U., & Karatepe, O. (2017). Work engagement and turnover intentions: Correlates and customer orientation as a moderator. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *29*, 1580-1598. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-11-2015-0649
- Babenko, V., Romanenkov, Y., Yakymova, L., & Nakisko, A. (2017). Development of the model of minimax adaptive management of innovative processes at an enterprise with consideration of risks. *Eastern European Journal of Enterprise Technologies*, *5*(4), 49-56. https://doi.org/10.15587/1729B4061.2017.112076
- Bagheri, H., Mashhadi, A., Fadardi, J. S., & Fayyazi-Bordbar, M. R. (2019). Cultural correlates of social anxiety disorder in the Iranian population: A qualitative study.

 Journal of Fundamentals of Mental Health, 21(4), 234-244.

 http://jfmh.mums.ac.ir/jufile?ar_sfile=280428
- Baharin, N. L., & Hanafi, W. N. W. (2018). Effects of talent management on employee retention: A case study of hospitality industry. *Global Business & Management Research*, 10(3), 697-707.
- Baillie, L. (2015). Promoting and evaluating scientific rigor in qualitative research.

 Nursing Standard, 29(46), 36-42. https://doi.org/10.7748/ns.29.46.36.e8830

- Bangwal, D., & Tiwari, P. (2019). Workplace environment, employee satisfaction and intent to stay. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 31(1), 268-284. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-04-2017-0230
- Becker, F. W., & Tews, M. J. (2016). Fun activities at work: Do they matter to hospitality employees? *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *15*, 279-296. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2016.1147938
- Berdychevsky, L., & Gibson, H. (2015). Women's sexual sensation seeking and risk taking in leisure travel. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *47*, 621-646. https://doi.org/10.18666/jlr-2015-v47-i55546
- Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: Researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*, 219-234. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475
- Bester, A., Moll, M., & Simons, R. C. (2017). Exploring variability among quality management system auditors when rating the severity of audit findings at a nuclear power plant. *South African Journal of Industrial Engineering*, *28*(1), 145-163. https://doi.org/10.7166/28-1-1512
- Boge, K., & Salaj, A. (2017). Practice vs theory: Short-term financials trumps long-term value creation. *Journal of Corporate Real Estate*, *19*, 186-204. https://doi.org/10.1108/JCRE-06-2016-0022
- Book, L., Gatling, A., & Kim, J. (Sunny). (2019). The effects of leadership satisfaction on employee engagement, loyalty, and retention in the hospitality industry.

- *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *18*(3), 368-393. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1599787
- Brochado, A., Rita, P., & Margarido, A. (2016). High tech meets high touch in upscale hotels. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Technology*, 7(4), 347-365. https://doi.org/10.1108/jhtt-07-2016-0038
- Brown, E. A., Thomas, N. J., & Bosselman, R. H. (2015). Are they leaving or staying: A qualitative analysis of turnover issues for Generation Y hospitality employees with a hospitality education. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 46(1), 130-137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.01.011
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Bryman, A., & Bell, E. (2015). Business research methods. Oxford University Press.
- Bufquin, D., DiPietro, R., Orlowski, M., & Partlow, C. (2017). The influence of restaurant co-workers perceived warmth and competence on employees' turnover intentions: The mediating role of job attitudes. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 60, 13-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.09.008
- Bureau of Labor Statistics (2019). *Job Openings and Labor Turnover Survey*. https://www.bls.gov/jlt/
- Burton, F. G., Chen, Y., Grover, V., & Stewart, K. A. (1992). An application of expectancy theory for assessing user motivation to utilize an expert system.

 Journal of Management Information Systems, 9(3), 183-199.*

 https://doi.org/10.1080/07421222.1992.11517973

- Cairney, P., & St. Denny, E. (2015). Reviews of what is qualitative research and what is qualitative interviewing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology:*Theory and Practice, 18, 117-125.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2014.957434
- Canales, J., & Caldart, A. (2017). Encouraging emergence of cross-business strategic initiatives. *European Management Journal*, *35*(3), 300-313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emj.2016.10.003
- Canevacci, M. (2017). Ubiquitous design: Ethnographic glances toward syncretism's, polyphonies, meta-fetishisms. *The Design Journal*, 20(1), 4600-4610. https://doi.org/10.1080/14606925.2017.1352957
- Canevacci, M., & Simeone, L. (2017). Ubiquitous ethnographies-experimental labs for research and teaching in the anthropological fieldwork. *International SERIES on Information Systems and Management in Creative eMedia (CreMedia)*, 69-92. http://www.ambientmediaassociation.org/
- Carlino, N. (2017). Keeping employees happy is critical for success. *Hotel Business*, 26(15), 32.
- Carnes, A. M., & Knotts, K. G. (2018). Control and expectancy: Locus of control as a predictor of psychological entitlement. *Employee Responsibilities & Rights Journal*, 30(2), 81-97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10672-017-9312-6
- Cascio, W. F. (2014). Leveraging employer branding, performance management and human resource development to enhance employee retention. *Human Resource*

- Development International, 17(2), 121-128. https://doi.org/10.1080/13678868.2014.886443
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *The Qualitative Report*, *21*, 811-831. https://tqr.nova.edu/
- Castleberry, A., & Nolen, A. (2018). Thematic analysis of qualitative research data: Is it as easy as it sounds? *Currents in Pharmacy Teaching and Learning*, 10(6), 807-815. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cptl.2018.03.019
- Cavallari, R. (2015). How company growth and client retention are possible. *Hotel Management (21582122)*, 230(4), 14-81.
- Černe, M., Kaše, R., & Škerlavaj, M. (2016). Non-technological innovation research:

 Evaluating the intellectual structure and prospects of an emerging field.

 Scandinavian Journal of Management, 32(2), 69-85.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scaman.2016.02.001
- Chahal, H.S., & Poonam (2017). Study of organizational culture, employee turnover and employees' retention in hospitality sector. *Pacific Business Review International*, *9*(11), 119-125. http://www.pbr.co.in/2017/2017 month/May/14.pdf
- Chen, B., Vansteenkiste, M., Beyers, W., Boone, L., Deci, E. L., Van der Kaap-Deeder, J., Duriez, B., Lens, W., Matos, L., Mouratidis, A., Ryan, R. M., Sheldon, K. M., Soenens, B., Petegem, S. V., & Verstuyf, J. (2015). Basic psychological needs satisfaction, need frustration, and need strength across four cultures. *Motivation and Emotion*, 39(2), 216-236. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-014-9450-1

- Chennamaneni, A., Teng, J. T. C., & Raja, M. K. (2012). A unified model of knowledge sharing behaviors: Theoretical development and empirical test. *Behavior and Information Technology*, *31*(11), 1097-1115. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929x.2011.624637
- Chou, S. Y., & Pearson, J. M. (2012). Organizational citizenship behavior in IT professionals: An expectancy theory approach. *Management Research Review*, 35(12), 1170-1186. https://doi.org/10.1108/01409171211281282
- Chowdhury, A. A. M., & Md, N. H. (2017). Factors affecting employee turnover and sound retention strategies in business organization: a conceptual view. *Problems and Perspectives in Management*, *15*(1), 63-71. https://doi.org/10.21511/ppm.151.2017.06
- Cloutier, O., & Felusiak, L. (2015). The importance of developing strategies for employee retention. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, *12*, 119-130. http://www.na-businesspress.com/jlaeopen.html
- Colombo, T., Froning, H., Garcìa, P. J., & Vandelli, W. (2016). Optimizing the data collection time of a large-scale data-acquisition system through a simulation framework. *The Journal of Supercomputing*, *72*, 4546-4572. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11227-016-1764-1
- Connelly, L. M. (2016). Understanding research. Trustworthiness in qualitative research.

 MEDSURG Nursing, 25, 435-436. Retrieved from
 http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa

- Damij, N., Levnajic, Z., Rejec, V. S., & Sukland, J. (2015). What motivates us for work:

 An intricate web of factors beyond money and prestige. *Plos ONE*, 10, 1-13.

 https://doi.org/10.137/journal.pone.0132641
- Dechawatanapaisal, D. (2018). Examining the relationships between HR practices, organizational job embeddedness, job satisfaction, and quit intention: Evidence from Thai accountants. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration*, 10(2/3), 130-148. https://doi.org/10.1108/apjba-11-2017-0114
- De Sousa, S. M., Ledimo, O., & Martins, N. (2018). Predicting staff retention from employee motivation and job satisfaction. *Journal of Psychology in Africa*, 28(2), 136-140. https://doi.org/10.1080/14330237.2018.1454578
- Dewey, J. (2018). ERG theory. Salem Press. Encyclopedia.
- Díaz, M. B. (2019). Hospitality industry dominates consumer spending. *Caribbean Business*, 5(22), 25. https://caribbeanbusiness.com/
- Do, T. T. (2018). How spirituality, climate and compensation affect job performance. *Social Responsibility Journal*, 1(2), 396-398. https://doi.org/10.1108/SRJ-05-2016-0086
- Donate, M. J., & de Pablo, J. D. S. (2015). The role of knowledge-oriented leadership in knowledge management practices and innovation. *Journal of Business Research*, 68(2), 360-370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2014.06.022
- Doyle, E., & Buckley, P. (2017). Embracing qualitative research: A visual model for nuanced research ethics oversight. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(1), 95-117. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116661230

- Drabble, L., Trocki, K. F., Salcedo, B., Walker, P. C., & Korcha, R. A. (2015).

 Conducting qualitative interviews by telephone: Lessons learned from a study of alcohol use among sexual minority and heterosexual women. *Qualitative Social Work*, *15*, 118-133. https://doi.org/10.1177/1473325015585613
- Elizabeth-Ann, S. (2019). Motivating the workforce: Beyond the 'two-factor' model.

 *Australian Health Review, 43(1), 98-102. https://doi.org/10.1071/AH16279
- Emmanuel, I. E., & Damachi, G. U. (2015). Employees' participation in decision making and the hospitality industry in Nigeria. An investigative study of selected hotels in the Federal Capital Territory, Abuja, Nigeria. *Academic Journal of Economic Studies*, *1*(4), 54-66. http://www.ajes.ro/
- Enkhbayar, B., & Bixiang, Z. (2018). The middle and lower level employee's motivation in Mongolian banking sector. *Proceedings of the Mongolian Academy of Sciences*, 4, 90-96. https://doi.org/10.5564/PMAS.V57I4.927
- Esu, B. B. (2015). Transforming the Nigerian tourism industry entrepreneurial development. *African Journal of Business Management*, *9*(15), 569-580. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM2015.7844
- Fehr, A., Solberg, J., & Bruun, J. (2016). Validation networks derived from snowball sampling of municipal science education actors. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, *39*(1), 3-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/17437227X.2016.1192117

- Fernandez, K., & Worasuwan, K. (2017). Drivers of hotel employee retention: A comparative study. *Universal Journal of Management*, *5*(11), 497-501. https://doi.org/10.13189/UJM.2017.051101
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. http://www.nova.edu/ssss/QR/QR20/9/fusch1.pdf
- Gaus, N. (2017). Selecting research approaches and research designs: A reflective essay.

 *Qualitative Research Journal, 17, 99-112. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-07-2016-0041
- Griffith, D. A., Morris, E. S., & Thakar, V. (2016). Spatial autocorrelation and qualitative sampling: The case of snowball type sampling. *Annals of the American Association of Geographers*, *106*(4), 773-787.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/24694452.2016.1164580
- Grobelna, A. (2015). Intercultural challenges facing the hospitality industry: Implications for education and hospitality management. *Journal of Intercultural Management*, 7(3), 101-117. https://doi.org/10.1515/joim-2015-0023
- Grotte, J. (2015). Most recent challenges in the Hungarian hospitality industry.

 *International Journal of Business Insights & Transformation, 9(1), 24-28.

 https://www.ijbit.org/
- Hammarberg, K., de Lacey, S., & Kirkman, M. (2016). Qualitative research methods: When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction (Oxford, England)*, *31*(3), 498-501. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334

- Hammersley, M. (2015). On ethical principles for social research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, *18*, 433-449. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2014.924169
- Harjanti, D., & Todani, F. A. (2019). Job burnout and employee performance in hospitality industry: The role of social capital. *Jurnal Teknik Industri*, 21(1), 15-24. https://doi.org/10.9744/jti.21.1.15-24
- Harris, K. J., Murphy, K. S., DiPietro, R. B., & Line, N. D. (2017). The antecedents and outcomes of food safety motivators for restaurant workers: An expectancy framework. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *63*(1), 53-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.02.004
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38, 23-38. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hassi, A. (2019). Empowering leadership and management innovation in the hospitality industry context: The mediating role of climate for creativity. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, *31*(4), 1785-1800. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-01-2018-0003
- Haussman, G. (2016). Four truths about hotel employee retention.

 https://www.hotelmanagement.net/4-truths-about-hotel-worker-employee-retention
- Hazavehei, S. M., Moonaghi, H. K., Moeini, B., Moghimbeigi, A., & Emadzadeh, A. (2015). Investigating the key factors in designing a communication skills program

- for medical students: A qualitative study. *Electronic Physician*, 7, 1441-1448. https://doi.org/10.19082/144
- Hazra, K., Sengupta, P. P., & Ghosh, P. (2014). Role of motivation on employee's performance in different segments of catering sectors under hospitality industry:
 An empirical study. 2nd International Conference on Business and Information Management (ICBIM). https://doi.org/10.1109/ICBIM.2014.6970968
- Herzberg, F. (1987). One more time. How do you motivate employees? *Harvard Business Review*, 65(5), 109-120. http://www.hbr.org
- Herzberg, F., & Dunnette, M. D. (1967). Work and the nature of man. *Administrative*Science Quarterly, 12(1), 170-186. https://doi.org/10.2307/2391218
- Herzberg, F., Mauser, B., & Snyderman, B. (1959). *The motivation to work*. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction.
- Herzberg, F., Mauser, B., & Snyderman, B. B. (2011). *The motivation to work*. John Wiley and Sons. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315124827
- Higginbottom, G. M., Safipour, J., Yohani, S., O'Brien, B., Mumtaz, Z., Paton, P., & Chiu, Y. (2016). An ethnographic investigation of the maternity healthcare experience of immigrants in rural and urban Alberta, Canada. *BMC Pregnancy & Childbirth*, *16*(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-015-0773-z
- Hight, S. K., Gajjar, T., & Okumus, F. (2019). Managers from "hell" in the hospitality industry: How do hospitality employees' profile bad managers? *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77(1), 97-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.06.018

- Holston-Okae, B. L., & Mushi, R. J. (2018). Employee turnover in the hospitality industry using Herzberg's two-factor motivation-hygiene theory. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 8(1), 218-248. https://doi.org/10.6007/ijarbss/v8-i1/3805
- Hon, A., & Lui, S. (2016). Employee creativity and innovation in organizations: Review, integration, and future directions for hospitality research. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28(5), 862-885.
 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-09-2014-0454
- Honkaniemi, L., Lehtonen, M. H., & Hasu, M. (2015). Well-being and innovativeness:
 Motivational trigger points for mutual enhancement. *European Journal of Training & Development*, 39(5), 393-408. https://doi.org/10.1108/ejtd-11-2014-0078
- Hooi, L. W., & Leong, P. Y. (2015). The impact of employee satisfaction on employee intention to leave: A case study analysis. *Journal for International Business and Entrepreneurship Development*, 8(3), 281-299.
 https://doi.org/10.1504/JIBED.2015.070805
- Hsiao, A., Ma, E., & Auld, C. (2017). Organizational ethnic diversity and employees' satisfaction with hygiene and motivation factors. A comparative IPA approach. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 26(2), 144-163. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2016.1181020
- Hsiao, T. B. Y., Chuang, C. B. M., & Huang, L. (2018). The contents, determinants, and strategic procedure for implementing suitable green activities in star hotels.

- International Journal of Hospitality Management, 69, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2017.10.005
- Hsu, D. K., Shinnar, R. S., & Powell, B. C. (2014). Expectancy theory and entrepreneurial motivation: A longitudinal examination of the role of entrepreneurship education. *Journal of Business & Entrepreneurship*, 26(1), 121-140.
- Huffman, A. H., Casper, W. J., & Payne, S. C. (2014). How does spouse career support relate to employee turnover? Work interfering with family and job satisfaction as Mediators. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, *34*(2), 194-212. https://doi.org/10.1002/job.1862
- Hyun, S., & Oh, H. (2011). Re-examination of Herzberg's two-factor theory of motivation in the Korean army foodservice operations. *Journal of Foodservice Business Research*, 14(2), 100-121.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15378020.2011.574532
- Investors in People (2018). Job exodus trends: 2017 employee sentiment poll.

 https://www.investorsinpeople.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/IIP-Job-Exodus-Trends-2017-employee-sentiment-poll.pdf
- Jaworski, C., Ravichandran, S., Karpinski, A. C., & Singh, S. (2018). The effects of training satisfaction, employee benefits, and incentives on part-time employees' commitment. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 74(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.02.011

- Jena, L. K., & Pradhan, S. (2018). The mediating role of organizational citizenship behavior: A study of workplace spirituality and employee retention in Indian industries. *Performance Improvement*, 57(9), 17-35. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21805
- Kansakar, P., Munir, A., & Shabani, N. (2019). Technology in the hospitality industry:

 Prospects and challenges. *IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine*, 8(3), 60-65.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/mce.2019.2892245
- Karahanna, E., Xu, S. X., & Zhang, N. (2015). Psychological ownership motivation and use of social media. *Journal of Marketing Theory and Practice*, *23*, 185-207. https://doi.org/10.1080/10696679.2015.1002336
- Karatepe, O. M., & Magaji, A. B. (2008). Work-Family Conflict and Facilitation in the Hotel Industry: A Study in Nigeria. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 49(4), 395-412. https://doi.org/10.1177/1938965508326282
- Karlsson, C., & Tavassoli, S. (2016). Innovation strategies of firms: What strategies and why? *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, 41(6), 1483-1506.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10961.015.9453.4
- Khalid, K., & Nawab, S. (2018). Employee participation and employee retention in view of compensation. *SAGE OPEN 8*(4), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244018810067
- Kihn, L., & Ihantola, E. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 12, 230-255. https://doi.org/10.1109/QRAM-03-2013-0012

- Kim, D. (2017). Examining effects of internal public relations practices on organizational social capital in the Korean context. Mediating roles of employee-organization relationships. Corporate Communications: *An International Journal*, *23*(1), 100-116. https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-01-2017-0002
- Kim, J., Song, H. J., & Lee, C.-K. (2016). Effects of corporate social responsibility and internal marketing on organizational commitment and turnover intentions.
 International Journal of Hospitality Management, 55, 25-32.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.02.007
- Kim, T. T., & Lee, G. (2013). Hospitality employee knowledge-sharing behaviours in the relationship between goal orientations and innovative work behaviour. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 34, 324-337.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2013.04.009
- Kmita, M. (2017). Expectations and provocations: Use of humor between researcher and participants in humor research. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *17*, 265-282. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-08-2016-0054
- Kong, H., Jiang, X., Chan, W., & Zhou, X. (2018). Job satisfaction research in the field of hospitality and tourism. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality*Management, 30(5), 2178-2194. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-09-2016-0525
- Korcuska, J. S., & Flynn, S. V. (2018). Credible phenomenological research: A mixed methods study. *Counselor Education and Supervision*, 57(1), 34-50. https://doi.org/10.1002/ceas.12092

- Kossivi, B., Xu, M., & Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on determining factors of employee retention. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, *4*(1), 261-268. https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2016.45029
- Lee, G., Kim, P. B., & Perdue, R. R. (2016). A longitudinal analysis of an accelerating effect of empowerment on job satisfaction: Customer-contact vs. non-customer-contact workers. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *57*, 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.05.006
- Lee, K. J. (2016). Sense of calling and career satisfaction of hotel frontline employees.

 *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 28(2), 346-365.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/ijchm-01-2014-0026
- Leedy, P. D., & Ormrod, J. E. (2015). *Practical research: Planning and design* (9th ed.).

 Merrill Prentice-Hall.
- Leighton, P. (2016). Mass salmonella poisoning by the peanut corporation of America: State-corporate crime involving food safety. *Critical Criminology*, *24*(1), 75-91. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10612-015-9284-5
- Leonina, E. B. (2017). Expectancy theory explaining civil servants' work motivation. evidence from a Romanian city hall. *USV Annals of Economics and Public Administration*, *17*(2), 146-160. http://www.annals.seap.usv.ro/
- Lin, L. (2013). The impact of service innovation on firm performance. *Service Industries Journal*, *33*(15/16), 1599-1632. https://doi.org/10.1080/02642069-2011-638712
- Liu, X., & Ding, N. (2016). Research data management in universities of central China. *The Electronic Library*, 34, 808-822. https://doi.org/10.1108/EL-04-2015-0063

- Lundberg, C., Gudmundson, A., & Andersson, T. D. (2009). Herzberg's two-factor theory of work motivation tested empirically on seasonal workers in hospitality and tourism. *Tourism Management*, *30*(6), 890-899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2008.12.003
- Lynd-Stevenson, R. M. (1999). Expectancy-value theory and predicting future employment status in the young unemployed. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 72(1), 101-106. https://doi.org/10.1348/096317999166527
- MacDermid, J. C. (2017). Bias can occur during the research or publication process.

 Journal of Hand Therapy, 30(4), 381-382.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jht.2017.10.005
- Madikizela-Madiya, N. (2017). Ethics' power dynamics in higher education's self-ethnographic research. *Journal of Qualitative Research*, *17*(1), 32-42. https://doi.org/10.1108/QRJ-06-2016-0038
- Maforah, T. P. (2015). Inner-city independent schools' educators' job satisfaction and their motivation to quit. *Journal of International Education and Leadership*, *5*(2), 1-9. https://www.jielusa.org/
- Mangi, A. A., Kanasro, H. A., & Burdi, M. B. (2015). Motivation tools and organizational success: A critical analysis of motivational theories. *Government Research Journal of Political Science*, *4*(4), 51-62. https://sujoold.usindh.edu.pk/index.php/THE-GOVERNMENT

- Mansour, S., & Tremblay, D.-G. (2018). Work-family conflict/family-work conflict, job stress, burnout and intention to leave in the hotel industry in Quebec (Canada):

 Moderating role of need for family friendly practices as "resource passageways."

 International Journal of Human Resource Management, 29(16), 2399-2430.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1239216
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. B. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Marshall, T., Mottier, L., & Lewis, R. (2016). Motivational factors and the hospitality industry: A case study of examining the effects of changes in the working environment. *Journal of Business Case Studies*, 11(3), 123-132. https://doi.org/10.19030/jbcs.v11i3.9289
- Martin-Rios, C., & Ciobanu, T. (2019). Hospitality innovation strategies: An analysis of success factors and challenges. *Tourism Management*, 70, 218-229. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2018.08.018
- Martin-Rios, C., & Parga-Dans, E. (2016a). The early bird gets the worm, but the second mouse gets the cheese: Non-technological innovation in creative industries.
 Creativity and Innovation Management, 25, 6-17.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/caim.12131
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review*, *50*(4), 370-396. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0054346

- Mathimaran, K. B., & Kumar, A. A. (2017). Employee retention strategies. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research* 17(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.17406/GJMBR
- Mayende, T. S., & Musenze, I. A. (2018). Ethical leadership and staff retention: The moderating role of job resources in Uganda's healthcare sector. *SA Journal of Industrial Psychology*, *44*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.4102/sajip.v44i0.1531
- McGinley, S. P., Hanks, L., & Line, N. D. (2017). Constraints to attracting new hotel workers: A study on industrial recruitment. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 60(1), 114-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.10.010
- McIntosh, M. J., & Morse, J. M. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semi structured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, *2*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- McPhail, R., Patiar, A., Herington, C., Creed, P., & Davidson, M. (2015). Development and initial validation of a hospitality employees' job satisfaction index: Evidence from Australia. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27(8), 1814-1838. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-03-2014-0132
- Metilelu, O. O. (2016). Human capital development trends in the hospitality and tourism industry: A case of southwest Nigeria. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 5 (4), 1-16. https://www.ajhtl.com/
- Mohajan, H. K. (2017). Two criteria for good measurements in research: Validity and reliability. *Annals of Spiru Haret University. Economic Series*, *17*, 59-82. https://doi.org/10.26458/1746

- Mohamed, L. M. (2016). Assessing the effects of transformational leadership: A study on Egyptian hotel employees. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 27, 49-59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhtm.2016.04.001
- Moonaghi, H. K., Ranjbar, H., Heydari, A., & Scurlock-Evans, L. (2015). Truck drivers' experiences and perspectives regarding factors influencing traffic accidents: A qualitative study. *Workplace Health & Safety*, *63*(8), 342-349. https://doi.org/10.1177/2165079915576943
- Morello-Frosch, R., Varshavsky, J., Liboiron, M., Brown, P., & Brody, J. G. (2015).

 Communicating results in post-Belmont era biomonitoring studies: Lessons from genetics and neuroimaging research. *Environmental Research*, *136*, 363-372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2014.10.001
- Morris, L., Ashcroft, D., Phipps, D., Bower, P., O'Donoghue, D., Roderick, P., Harding, S., Lewington, A., & Blakeman, T. (2016). Preventing acute kidney injury: A qualitative study exploring 'sick day rules' implementation in primary care. *BMC Family Practice*, *17*(1), 1-10. h https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-016-0480-5
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Data were saturated. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 587-588. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732315576699
- Morse, J. M., & Coulehan, J. (2015). Maintaining confidentiality in qualitative publications. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 151-152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314563489
- Morsea, W. C., Lowerya, D. R., & Steurya, T. (2014). Exploring saturation of themes and spatial locations in qualitative public participation geographic information

- systems research. *Society & Natural Resources: An International Journal*, 27, 557-571. https://doi.org/10.1080/08941920.2014.888791
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.13755091
- Motshegwa, N. (2017). Knowledge retention strategies employed by Botswana's tourism and hospitality industry: The case of Gaborone. *Tourism Management Perspectives*, *24*, 107-110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tmp.2017.07.022
- Mullen, R. (2016). In good company. *Caterer* (2055-7817), 206(4951), 30. https://www.thecaterer.com/
- Murgatroyd, D., Lockwood, K., Garth, B., & Cameron, I. D. (2015). The perceptions and experiences of people injured in motor vehicle crashes in a compensation scheme setting: A qualitative study. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-1739-9
- Murray, W. C. (2016). Exploring self-perceptions of motivations in the hospitality industry. Tourism travel and research association: *Advancing Tourism Research Globally*, 20(1), 1-6.
 - https://scholarworks.umass.edu/ttra/2016/Academic_Papers_Visual/20
- Murray, W. C., Elliot, S., Simmonds, K., Madeley, D., & Taller, M. (2017). Human resource challenges in Canada's hospitality and tourism industry. Worldwide Hospitality & Tourism Themes, 9(4), 391-401. https://doi.org/10.1108/WHATT-04-2017-0022

- Musyoki, J., Bor, T., & Tanui, T. A. (2017). Effects of knowledge management facilitators and mechanisms on organizational performance in the hospitality industry. *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 8(11), 37-42. https://ijrcm.org.in/
- Mwasaru, H., & Kazungu, K. W. (2015). Effects of employee retention strategies on organizational competitive advantage in the hotel industry in Mombasa County.

 *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management, 6(3), 1-4. https://ijrcm.org.in/
- Nilson, C. (2017). A journey toward cultural competence: The role of researcher reflexivity in indigenous research. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, *28*(2), 119-127. https://doi.org/10.11771043659616642825
- Nimri, M., Bdair, A., & Al Bitar, H. (2015). Applying the expectancy theory to explain the motivation of public sector employees in Jordan. *Middle East Journal of Business*, 10(3), 70-82. https://doi.org/10.5742/mejb.2015.92714
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evaluation*, 19, 312-332. https://doi.org/10.1177/1356389013497081
- Nombeko, F. D. (2019). Causes and prevention of high employee turnover within the hospitality industry: A literature review. *African Journal of Hospitality, Tourism and Leisure*, 8(3), 1-15. https://www.ajhtl.com/
- Nwosu, B., & Ward, T. (2016). The way forward: Human capital development in the hotel industry in Nigeria. *Worldwide Hospitality & Tourism Themes*, 8(2), 235-240. https://doi.org/10.1108/whatt-11-2015-0049

- Oberoi, D. V., Jiwa, M., McManus, A., & Hodder, R. (2015). Barriers to help-seeking in men diagnosed with benign colorectal diseases. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, *39*(1), 22-33. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.39.1.3
- Ofobruku, S. A., Kamoli, M. K., & Amagbakhen, O. R. (2012). Geographical information system technology as a decision support for hospitality management. *European Scientific Journal*, 8(23), 38-64. http://www.eujournal.org/
- O'Halloran, P. (2015). Technology developments in the hospitality industry. *Academy of Business Research Journal*, *3*, 69-74. https://www.aobronline.com/abrj
- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A., & Oludayo, O. (2018). Perception of frontline employees towards career growth opportunities: Implications on turnover intention. *Business, Theory and Practice*, *19*(1), 278-287. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.28
- Ohunakin, F., Adeniji, A. A., Oludayo, O. A., Osibanjo, A. O., & Oduyoye, O. O. (2019). Employees' retention in Nigeria's hospitality industry: The role of transformational leadership style and job satisfaction. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *18*(4), 441-470. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2019.1626795
- Oikonomidoy, E., & Wiest, L. R. (2015). Navigating cross-boundary connections in educational research. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 40(1), 53-65. https://doi.org/10.1080/1743727X.2015.1036851
- Olusegun, A. C., & Olusola, A. B. (2016). Human capital development in the Nigerian hospitality industry. *Worldwide Hospitality & Tourism Themes*, 8(2), 195-206. https://doi.org/10.1108/whatt-11-2015-0051

- Orri, M., Revah-Lévy, A., & Farges, O. (2015). Surgeons' emotional experience of their everyday practice A qualitative study. *Plus ONE, 10*(11), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143763
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed method implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42, 533-544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Perepelytsia, A., & Yurchenko, Y. (2019). Modern hotel technology trends for hospitality industry. *Journal of Economics and International Relations*, 9, 197-202. https://doi.org/10.26565/2310-9513-2019-9-24
- Pocock, N. (2015). Emotional entanglements in tourism research. *Annals of Tourism Research*, *53*, 31-45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annals.2015.04.005
- Pohler, D., & Schmidt, J. A. (2015). Does pay-for-performance strain the employment relationship? The effect of manager bonus eligibility on non-management employee turnover. *Personnel Psychology*, 68(2), 1-35. https://doi.org/10.1111/peps.12106
- Potestio, M. L., Boyd, J. M., Bagshaw, S. M., Heyland, D., Oxland, P., Doig, C. J., & Stelfox, H. T. (2015). Engaging the public to identify opportunities to improve critical care: A qualitative analysis of an open community forum. *Plos ONE*, *10*(11), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143088

- Purvis, R. L., Zagenczyk, T. J., & McCray, G. E. (2015). What's in it for me?: Using expectancy theory and climate to explain stakeholder participation, its direction, and intensity. *International Journal of Project Management*, *33*(1), 3-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.03.003
- Qazi, T. F., Khalid, A., & Shafique, M. (2015). Contemplating employee retention through multidimensional assessment of turnover intentions. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, 9(2), 598-613. http://www.jespk.net/
- Quinn, K., & Buzzetto-Hollywood, N. (2019). Faculty and student perceptions of the importance of management skills in the hospitality industry. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning & Learning Objects*, *15*, 21-41. https://doi.org/10.28945/4198
- Rafiee, N., Bahrami, M. A., & Entezarian, S. (2015). Demographic determinants of organizational commitment of health managers in Yazd Province. *International Journal of Management, Accounting & Economics*, 2, 91-100. http://www.ijmae.com/
- Rakhra, H. K. (2018). Study on factors influencing employee retention in companies.

 *International Journal of Public Sector Performance Management, 4(1), 57-79.

 https://doi.org/10.1504/ijpspm.2018.10009505
- Rathi, N., & Lee, K. (2016). Emotional exhaustion and work attitudes: Moderating effect of personality among frontline hospitality employees. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, *15*(3), 231-251. https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2016.1147935

- Rose, S., & Raja, K. G. (2016). Role of human resource practices, job satisfaction, and organization commitment in employee retention. *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 7(10), 1-3. https://ijrcm.org.in/
- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 77, 243-260. https://doi.org/10.111/jomf.12147
- Rubel, M. R. B., & Hung Kee, D. M. (2015). High commitment compensation practices and employee turnover intention: Mediating role of job satisfaction.

 Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences, 6(6), 321-332.

 https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n6s4p321
- Ruiz, C. A., & Davis, A. (2017). Strategies to retain millennial employees at full-service restaurants. *International Journal of Applied Management and Technology*, 16(1), 166-185. https://doi.org/10.5590/IJAMT.2017.16.1.11
- Sahito, Z., & Vaisanen, P. (2017). The diagonal model of job satisfaction and motivation:

 Extracted from the logical comparison of content and process theories.

 International Journal of Higher Education, 6(3), 209-230.

 https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v6n3p209
- Samson, A. J., & Timothy, G. (2014). Effects of human resource training and development on productivity in the Nigerian hospitality industry. *International Journal of Public Administration and Management Research*, 2(2), 80-87. http://www.rcmss.com

- Sanderson, S. C., Linderman, M. D., Suckiel, S. A., Diaz, G. A., Zinberg, R. E.,
 Ferryman, K., Wasserstein, M., Kasarskis, A., & Schadt, E. E. (2016).
 Motivations, concerns and preferences of personal genome sequencing research participants: Baseline findings from the HealthSeq project. *European Journal of Human Genetics*, 24(1), 14-20. https://doi.org/10.1038/ejhg.2015.118
- Sanjeev, M. A., & Surya, A. V. (2016). Two factor theory of motivation and satisfaction:

 An empirical verification. *Annals of Data Science*, *3*(2), 155-173.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40745-016-0077-9
- Santhanam, N., Kamalanabhan, T. J., Dyaram, L., & Ziegler, H. (2017). Impact of human resource management practices on employee turnover intentions. *Journal of Indian Business Research*, *9*(3), 212-228. https://doi.org/10.1108/JIBR-10-20160116
- Sarmad, M., Ajmal, M. M., Shamim, M., Saleh, M., & Malik, A. (2016). Motivation and compensation as predictors of employees' retention: Evidence from public sector oil and gas selling organizations. *Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *26*(2), 174-188. http://pu.edu.pk/home/journal/24
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Sayer, L., Barriball, L. K., Bliss, J., Bakhshi, S., & While, A. E. (2016). An innovative strategy to increase a professional workplace: The fast track initiative for health visitors in England. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, 21, 83-90. https://doi.org/10.1177/1355819615608889

- Schaumberg, R. L., & Flynn, F. J. (2017). Clarifying the link between job satisfaction and absenteeism: The role of guilt proneness. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *102*, 982-992. https://doi.org/10.1037/apl0000208
- Schuler, R. S. (2015). The 5-C framework for managing talent. *Organizational Dynamics*, 44, 47-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.orgdyn.2014.11.006
- Senden, C., Vandecasteele, T., Vandenberghe, E., Versluys, K., Piers, R., Grypdonck, M., & Van Den Noortgate, N. (2015). The interaction between lived experiences of older patients and their family caregivers confronted with a cancer diagnosis and treatment: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 197-206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.07.012
- Setia, M. S. (2016). Methodology series module 5: Sampling strategies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, *61*, 505. https://doi.org/10.4103/0019-5154.190118
- Shaban, R. (2015). Accounting for assessments of mental illness in paramedic practice: A new theoretical framework. *Australasian Journal of Paramedicine*, *3*, 1-10. https://ajp.paramedics.org/index.php/ajp
- Shamim, S., Cang, S., & Yu, H. (2017). Supervisory orientation, employee goal orientation, and knowledge management among front line hotel employees.

 International Journal of Hospitality Management, 62, 21-32.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2016.11.013
- Sharma, A., Motta, V. E. D., Choi, J. G., & Altman, N. S. (2016). Economic production in hospitality and tourism industry: How do we compare to other services?

- International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 28(5), 1026-1050. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM.07.2014.0316
- Shaukat, R., Yousaf, A., & Sanders, K. (2017). Examining the linkages between relationship conflict, performance and turnover intentions: Role of job burnout as a mediator. *International Journal of Conflict Management*, 28(1), 4-23. https://doi.org/10.1108/ijcma-08-2015-0051
- Sherri, S. (2015). Growing trends in the tourism and hospitality industry. *Journal of Tourism and Hospitality*, 4(3), 162. https://doi.org/10.4172/2167-0269.1000162
- Siddiqui, F. (2015). Importance of employee retention in a business organization. https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/importance-employee-retention-business-organization-fareed/
- Simonds, T. A., Brock, B. L., & Engel, M. T. (2016). Peer course review as a means to support adjunct faculty in an online program. *International Journal of Educational Organization & Leadership*, *23*(3), 29-38. https://doi.org/10.18848/2329-1656/cgp/v23i03/29-38
- Singh, R. (2016). The impact of intrinsic and extrinsic motivators on employee engagement in information organizations. *Journal of Education for Library and Information Science*, *57*(2), 197-206. https://doi.org/10.12783/issn.2328-2967/57/2/11
- Smaglik, P. (2016). Activism: Frustrated postdocs rise up. *Nature*, *530*, 505-506. https://doi.org/10.1038/nj7591-505a

- Song, Z., Chong, K., Ding, G., & Gu, C. (2015). Impact of organizational socialization tactics on newcomer job satisfaction and engagement: Core self-evaluations as moderators. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, *46*, 180-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.02.006
- Spadafino, J. T., Martinez, O., Levine, E. C., Dodge, B., Muñoz-Laboy, M., & Fernandez, M. I. (2016). Correlates of HIV and STI testing among Latino men who have sex with men in New York City. *AIDS Care*, *28*, 695-698. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2016.1147017
- Stamolampros, P., Korfiatis, N., Chalvatzis, K., & Buhalis, D. (2019). Job satisfaction and employee turnover determinants in high contact services: Insights from employees' online reviews. *Tourism Management*, 75, 130-147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tourman.2019.04.030
- Stephan, U., Patterson, M., Kelly, C., & Mair, J. (2016). Organizations driving positive social change: A review and an integrative framework of change processes.

 Journal of Management, 42(5), 1250-1281.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0149206316633268
- Sturm, R. (2017). Decreasing unethical decisions: The role of morality-based individual differences. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *142*(1), 37-57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2787-x
- Sun, J., & Teng, J. T. C. (2017). The construct of information systems use benefits:

 Theoretical explication of its underlying dimensions and the development of a

- measurement scale. *International Journal of Information Management*, *37*(5), 400-416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2017.04.010
- Supanti, D., Butcher, K., & Fredline, L. (2015). Enhancing the employer-employee relationship through corporate social responsibility (CSR) engagement.

 *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management, 27(7), 1479-1498. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJCHM-07-2014-0319
- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *Canadian Journal of Hospitality Pharmacy*, 68, 226-231. https://doi.org/10.4212/cjhp.v68i3.1456
- Symitsi, E., Stamolampros, P., & Daskalakis, G. (2018). Employees' online reviews and equity prices. *Economic Letters*, *162*, 53-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econlet.2017.10.027
- Thelwell, R. C., Wagstaff, C. R., Rayner, A., Chapman, M., & Barker, J. (2016).

 Exploring athletes' perceptions of coach stress in elite sport environments. *Journal of Sports Sciences*, *35*(1), 1-12.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/02640414.2016.1154979
- Torres, E. N., Niekerk, M. V., & Orlowski, M. (2016). Customer and employee incivility and its causal effects in the hospitality industry. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing* & *Management*, 26(1), 48-66. https://doi.org/10.1080/19368623.2016.1178620
- Tran, T. T. (2016). Pragmatism and Constructivism in conducting research about university-enterprise collaboration in the Vietnamese context. *International Symposium on Qualitative Research*, *5*, 7-15. http://proceedings.ciaiq.org

- Tran, V. T., Porcher, R., Tran, V. C., & Ravaud, P. (2017). Predicting data saturation in qualitative surveys with mathematical models from ecological research. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 82, 71-78.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.10.001
- Tussyadiah, P., Jung, T. H., & Perey, T. D. (2015). Open and interoperable augmented reality and the IEEE. *IEEE Consumer Electronics Magazine*, *4*(4), 133-135. https://doi.org/10.1109/mce.2015.2463432
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Secretary, The National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research* (45 CFR 46). http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2016). Industries at a glance. http://www.bls.gov/iag/tgs/iag70.htm#iag70emp1.f.P
- Van Eerde, W., & Thierry, H. (1996). Vrooms' expectancy models and work-related criteria: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 81(5), 575-586. https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.81.5.575
- Verbruggen, M., De Cooman, R., & Vansteenkiste, S. (2015). When and why are internal job transitions successful. Transition challenges, hindrances, and resources influencing motivation and retention through basic needs satisfaction. *Group & Organization Management*, 40(6), 744-775. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601115595935

- Vermesan, O., & Friess, P. (2014). *Internet of Things Applications. From Research and Innovation to Market Deployment*. River Publishers Series in Communication.
- Vijayakumar, V. R., & Saxena, U. (2015). Herzberg revisited: Dimensionality and structural invariance of Herzberg's two-factor model. *Journal of the Indian Academy of Applied Psychology*, 41(1), 291-298. http://www.jiaap.org/
- Vroom, V. H. (1964). Work and motivation. John Wiley & Sons.
- Wang, W., & Hou, Y. (2015). Motivations of employees' knowledge sharing behaviors:

 A self-determination perspective. *Information and Organizations*, 25(1), 1-26.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoandorg-2014-11-001
- Watson, R. T. (2015). Beyond being systematic in literature review in IS. *Journal of Information Technology*, 30(2), 185-187. https://doi.org/10.1057/jit.2015.12
- Wessels, J. S., & Visagie, R. G. (2017). The eligibility of public administration research for ethics review: A case study of two international peer-reviewed journals.

 International Review of Administrative Sciences, 83, 156-176.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2F0020852315585949
- White, D., & Hind, D. (2015). Projection of participant recruitment to primary care research: A qualitative study. *Trials*, *16*, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13063-015-1002-9
- Williams, A. A., & Owusu-Acheampong, A. (2016). Human resource management practice and their effect on employee turnover in the hotel industry in Cape Coast, Ghana. *Global Journal of Human Resource Management*, 4(4), 35-45.

- https://www.eajournals.org/journals/global-journal-of-human-resource-management-gjhrm/
- Woolard, N. (2015). Academic capitalism and the impact on state spending for higher education: Perceptions from members of the Oklahoma state legislature. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 19, 319-335. https://www.alliedacademies.org
- Wu, C., Chen, I., & Chen, J. (2017). A study into the impact of employee wellness and job satisfaction on job performance. *International Journal of Organizational Innovation*, 10(2), 252-269. https://www.ijoi-online.org/
- Yam, L., Raybould, M., & Gordon, R. (2018). Employment stability and retention in the hospitality industry: Exploring the role of job embeddedness. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 17(4), 445-464.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15332845.2018.1449560
- Yeh, R. K. J., & Teng, J. T. (2012). Extended conceptualization of perceived usefulness: Empirical test in the context of information system use continuance. *Behavior and Information Technology*, 31(5), 525-540. https://doi.org/10.1080/0144929x.2010.517272
- Yin, R. K. (2016). Qualitative research from start to finish (2nd ed.). Guilford.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Yousaf, A., Sanders, K., & Yustantio, J. (2018). High commitment HRM and organizational and occupational turnover intentions: The role of organizational and occupational commitment. *The International Journal of Human Resource*

Management, 29(10), 1661-1682.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09585192.2016.1256905

- Zheng, R. S., Guo, Q. H., Dong, F. Q., & Owens, R. G. (2015). Chinese oncology nurses' experience on caring for dying patients who are on their final days: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *52*, 288-296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.09
- Zoellner, J., & Harris, E. (2017). Mixed methods research in nutrition and dietetics. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *117*(5), 683-697.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jand.2017.01.018

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

- 1. I will greet the participant and reintroduce myself.
- 2. I will then go over the consent form to make sure the participant has read over it and know their rights as a participant.
- 3. I will ensure the participant is ready and will begin audiotaping the interview, acknowledging the pseudonym given to the participant as well as the time and environment.
- 4. I will begin asking the participant the eight interview questions, giving them time to answer, and ask any follow-up questions.
- 5. Once the interview is completed, I will set up a time for transcript review.
- 6. After the time for transcript review has been confirmed, I will let the participant know that their time was appreciated.

Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do you use to improve employee retention in your hotel?
- 2. What key challenges did you encounter while implementing the employee retention strategies?
- 3. How did you address the key challenges to retain employees?
- 4. How do you sustain your retention strategies?
- 5. What are the key contributors to employee satisfaction in your hotel?
- 6. How, if at all, did your strategies motivate workers to improve job satisfaction?
- 7. How, if at all, did your employee retention strategies improve employee work conditions?
- 8. What additional information would you like to share regarding strategies used to improve your hotel's employee retention?